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CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT

1. Economic and legal environment

1.1. Effect of the economic environment

In the financial year 2007/2008, AS Kalev was affected by the chaotic macroeconomic climate, factor
price increases, increase in the price of loan capital and the development of the company's activity
directions. With regard to production inputs, several significantly unfavourable changes could be seen
in certain raw material prices; similarly to the previous period. Personnel expenses continued to show
a rapid increase as well. At the same time, the demand for AS Kalev's goods was sustained by major
export markets, as well as by the domestic market, which reached the end of its period of quick

economic growth.

The rate of growth of Estonian GDP and tofal demand showed a sudden deceleration during the
period. The average rate of growth in demand for the past three years {nearly an annual 8%} dropped
to 1%. This real growth is many times smaller than the indicator for a longer period, with the growth in
demand being smaller than the rate of growth in total output for the first time in a decade. Even though
real demand in the Estonian economy grew by 1.2%, with GDP growing twice that amount, totat output
for the period from July 2007 to June 2008 decreased by nearly 5%. Different sectors showed different
dynamics. Food and beverage production decreased by 10% (while the furnover from these goods
increased by 10%). With regard to the activities pursued by Kalev Group (see Chapter 2), the biggest
growth can be seen in the turnover from pasfry products, which showed an increase of nearly 18%
compared to the same period {ast year. At the same time, the production volume of these goods oniy
showed marginal growth of 1%. As a result of the rapid decrease in domestic demand, the production
volumes have dropped, regardiess of the increase in export turnover, The dairy sector, for example,
saw one of the biggest drops in production (13%), even though the price increase boosted both export
and total turnover by neatly 15%. Profitability indicators showed a similar trend ~ the average for the
processing industry dropped by two percentage points compared to last year, amounting to 7% in the
period. Food and beverage production showed a profit margin of 5% (i.e. a drop of one percentage
point) and dairy production a decrease of 3% (i.e. a drop of one percentage point).

Kalev Group products fall among commodities for which real demand has remained modest or
negative. Even though wage dynamics supported growth in general consumption, the real annuat
growth in private consumption was lower than 2% (compared to the 10% in the previous three years).
At the same tlime, real growth in wages has been rapid in Estonia, while tensions brewing on the
tabour market with regard to both skills and availability-for the employer, such an employment
situation means limited options in a situation where production capacities need to be increased. For
this reason, Kalev Group made the necessary investments in order to control the changes caused by
the quick growth in the cost structure. Overall development indicates that the slow growth in

productivity exerts major pressure on the competitive abiliies of Estonian companies. The production
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branches with the biggest cost pressure are showing the lowest profit margin. The price pressure has
a negative effect on the entire economy, being divided between some or ali branches of economy and
causing a cost combination through lower wage levels, smaller profit and/or a decrease in budget
revenue. According fo Statistics Estonia, the real growth in the export of domestic goods has been
negative for the past four quarters (-3.5%), compared to the 5% growth in the previous period.

The increase in consumer prices was rapid for the fourth year in a row. The shopping cart price
increase exceeds an annual 11% at the moment of the preparation of the financial statements. Food
prices have shown an even greater increase of 18%. Inflation in Estonia reflects both the particular
stage of the economic cycle and the consequent "botllenecks” as well as the effect of KU economic
integration and globalisation. The double-digit inflation has reduced the purchasing power in the
domestic market and is affecting consumer behaviour. This is especially evident in a situation where
expenses on food and energy make up a relatively big part of the local consumer's budget. High
and/or rising inflation often reflects bigger changes and uncertainty regarding the future, and does not
therefore facilitate corporate investments. it is vital for the econorny in general that the inflation be
stonpped and the general price increase in Estonia diminish to the level of the first half of the decade
{4%}.

At the same time, we have detected signs of growing caution since the middle of 2007—end
consumption is no longer growing as fast as income. Since private consumption forms the most
important part of total demand (making up more than a half of total demand}, the above changes in
consumpition decelerate economic growth. in addition, we must take into consideration the changes in
consumer preferences. Surveys on demand for sweets indicate great price sensilivity among the
Estonian population. At the same time, we can also see signs of a major shift towards growth in
consumer awareness of healthier eating habits. Product development in the chocolate confectionery
segment is therefore paying more attention to exploiting the potential of dark chocolate in order to
materialise scientific conclusions of the health benefits of the particular foodstuff with respect to higher

antioxidant levels in products with a bigger cocoa content.

The cost of debt capital required for financing activity has also showed an increase compared to the
last financial year. As the loan conditions have become stricter, and the overall cost of capital has
increased, this will have its effect on the demand for construction and capital goods, as well as
consumption. Under the conditions of poor external demand and tow economic activity, the cost
pressure is of secondary importance in the profit margin. In such conditions, maintaining of the market
share and increasing of the total sales plays a much bigger role.

Final product price formation is based on various factors of demand and supply. in Esionia, cost prices
of industriat goods have increased a little over 7% in the period, while the increase in the price of food
and beverages amounts to an annual 20%. The price increase of energy carriers as well as different
production factors is evident in the production cost dynamics. For example, the price of cocoa heans

{guoted in US dollars on the global market) showed a 50% increase, and reached an all-time record
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height at the end of June 2008. As the demand for cocoa beans exceeds supply, and the raw material
deficit will last through 2009, the cocoa bean future prices on the London stock exchange have
rocketed. !t is only due fo the strengthening of the Estonian kroon (which is pegged to the euro
through the currency board system) that the real increase in the price of cocoa beans has remained
relatively modest: approximately 30%. Cocoa bean fuiures prices (also guoted in US dollars on the
global market) are showing a 4-5% draop for 12 months. Stiill, the continually negative global harvest
estimates of major cocoa producers do not raise confidence with respect to any drop in the price of the

raw material.

The buying-in price of the second important raw material for Kalev Group—milk—has increased by
nearly 25% in the past 12 months in Estonia. The price dynamics varied—while at the beginning of
2008, milk buying-in price had increased by one-third, comgpared to June 2007, the price has showed
some decrease from April 2008, Year-on-year, the milk buying-in price in Estonia had increased by
less than one-fifth as of June 2008. Crude milk prices have shown a remarkable increase in Europe in
the past 12 months (up to 80%), and have conditioned a near 20% increase in the dairy product prices
of different countries. The “Agricultural Outlook for 2008 to 2017" forecast prepared by OECD and
FAO for the next 10 years with respect to sugar, grain and milk powder forecasts an average of 30%
price increase in this product group, while the price of butter is forecasted to increase by over 60%
from the current level.

Corporate expenses on packaging, transport and logistics have gone up. This is especially due to the
increase in production input prices. For this reason, the profit forecasts of the food industry are
significantly affected by the above factors. In the world's leading food concerns (e.g. Cadbury, Nestlg,
Danone) in the branch, the negative effect of the raw material price increases on the corporate profit
margin is estimated to amount to an average of 300 base points. For the Estonian companies in
general, the negative increase in profitability has lasted for over a year. from the second quarter of
2007, the surplus and mixed income from corporate operations has decreased with each quarter,

compared to the same period last year.

1.2. Changes in the legal environment

The Estonian tax policy pushes towards direct remission of taxes and increase of indirect taxation,
Nonetheless, the major expenses incurred by local companies on labour will prevail, as changes in
production factor prices influence the effect of labour expenses on the company. In addition o state
taxes, personnel expenses are also affected by agreements concluded between employees and trade
unions, as well as minimum wage agreements established by the state. Minimum wage agreements
concluded in the past three years have raised the minimum wage in Estonia by an aggregated 62%
(from 1 January 2008, minimum wage increased by nearly 21%, compared to the previous period).
Such quick growth has had a direct effect on overall wage increase. Under the conditions of a lack of

skilled workers, a relatively modest flexibility of the labour market, limited growth in production and
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establishment of additional EU regulations, a rapid increase in minimum wage may exert ever-

increasing pressure on the expenses and profit margin of companies.

In June 2008, the new draft Employment Contracts Act was prepared in co-operation between social
partners, aiming at modemising the legistation regulating the Estonian labour market. Several
international surveys and comparisons indicate the hampering effect of the Estonian labour market
regulations on the growth of employment and their non-compliance with modern employment
refationships—i.e. which is officially recognised as inflexibility of the labour market (with sights on
ensuring flexibility), As employment relations is in dire need of modernisation in Estonia, we are

locking forward to a constructive discussion and passing of the regulations by the pariiament.

In July 2008, the European Commission initiated reform in order to change the organisation of the
community sugar market within the framework of the EU community agricultural policy. As a resuif of
the reform, the minimum price for white sugar, which was three times higher than the global market
price, will drop by a total of 36% in four years {the lowering of the sugar price in stages: 20% by the
first year, 27.5% by the second year, 35% by the third year and 368% by the fourth year)
Standardisation of the EU sugar price with the global sugar price (i.e. price reduction) serves the best
interests of AS Kalev.

In June 2007, the European Commission resolved to cancel all subsidies for dairy product export. This
i in fing with the reform of the EU common agricultural policy {CAP) and is conditioned by the
development of the global raw material prices. For instance, the price of both mitk powder and butter
has reached an all-time high. At the same time, the European Commission has taken the position that,
should the market reverse, the intervention in dairy product trade will resume. On 1 April 2008, EU
milk production quotas were raised by 2% within the framework of the CAP reforms. The gradual
increase in quotas resulted in the above decrease in milk price. As the reform provides for full
canceliation of the quotas in the European Union by the year 2015, the turopean Commission has
recommended, in order to ensure a smooth transition to the market conditions, a 1% increase in
quotas between 2008 and 2014. Further reforms will provide for the cancellation of the obligation to
leave uncuitivated 10% of the land. The growing food demand will thus result in the increase in the

production of agricultural products,



AS Kalev Consolidated Annual Report 2007/2008
Transiation of the Estonian Original

Z. Overview of AS Kalev Group

AS Kalev pursues several fields of activity, including manufacturing and sale of foodstuffs, media, real-
estate-related activities, publishing and printing activities. The company has long-term experience in
the chocolate, sugar and flour confectionery product segment as well as the pastry and dairy product
segment. AS Kalev has also pursued various real estate development and management projecis for a
longer period of time. Last financial year, AS Kalev expanded its activities into media, publishing and
related areas. These areas have shown remarkable development in the period. Among other things,
the company launched a television chanhnel. Foodstuff production is divided into five production plants,
located in Porguvalja (in Rae Municipality, Harju County), Paide, Viljandi, Johvi and Kividh. Kalev's
products are sold, among other channels, through the pan-Estonian retail chain which consisis of 15
candy stores and cafes.

The table below lists the fields of activity pursued by AS Kalev in accordance with the Estonian
Classification of Economic Activities (EMTAK 2008) as well as the Estonian version of the

classification of economic activities in the European Community (NACE, Rev. 2}

EMTAK code NACE code  Field of activity

1082 C 10.82 Production of chocolate and sugar confectionery products
1071 C 10.71 Preduction of pastry products

1051 C 10.51 Milk processing, production of dairy products and cheese
6810,6820 L 68.10,68.20 Real estate activities

5814 J58.14 Publishing of magazines and other periodicals

6020 J60.20 Television proegrammes and broadcasting

94995 S 94.99 Leisure and entertainment activities

18122 C 1812 Printing of periodicals, advertising materials, efc.

Kalev Group’s parent company is AS Kalev. In addition, the group incorporates eighieen subsidiaries.
The share of AS Kalev in these companies has been disclosed in Note 21. AS Kalev group underwent
a restructuring process in 2006. This was reflected in the financial results for both the previous
financial year and the reporting period. AS Uniprint became was incorporated as a subsidiary in the
last financial year. Pursuant to the shareholders' agreement, AS Kalev had the right to purchase all of
the company's shares. However, AS Kalev did not exercise this right (see Note 21.6).

The first organisational change was introduced at the beginning of the financial year 2007/2008.
Namely, AS Kalev acquired a share with a nominal value of 40 thousand EEK in the private limited
company Soltari Invest under the contract concluded on 17 August 2007. With the transaction, AS
Kalev became the sole shareholder of the private limited company which was renamed into AgriStock
OU. The subsidiary is invoived in the development of the processing of, storage of and reloading of
grain products. The above acquisition does not constitute a related party transaction in the meaning of
the stock exchange rules.
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At the end of 2007, AS Kalev Chocoiate Factory launched the fransition to product group-based
production, starting to manufacture pastry products and flour confectionery products in different
production plants. The speciatisation served the goal of enhancing logistical and production efficiency
i order o ease the pressure on cost price increase, and bring the know-how under a single
production unit. The first stage of this process involved changes in biscuit production in the Kividli
production plant of AS Kalev J6hvi Tootmine. In the second stage, pasiry production was fufly
transferred to the Jéhvi plant, partly by exploiting the labour resources made available with the first
stage. At the same time, the group's flour confectionery production was transferred to the AS Vilma
production plant in Viljandi.

in February 2008, Kati Kusmin, who also serves as member of the management boards of AS Kalev's
subsidiaries AS Kalev Chocolate Factory, AS Kalev Johvi Tootmine and AS Vilma, was appointed the
new managing director of OU Maiasmokk. In January 2008, AS Kalev transferred its share in the
subsidiary OU Maiasmokk to its other subsidiary AS Kalev Chocolate Factory. The transfer of the
share of OU Maiasmokk and appointment of a new managing director had to do with the transfer of
the food production companies of AS Kalev,

The members of the Management Board of AS Kalev are elected and removed pursuant to the
procedure provided by the Commercial Code. Under the Commercial Code, the members of the
Management Board and appointed and remaoved by the Supervisory Board of AS Kalev. A member of
the Management Board shall be elected for a specified term of three years unless the Articles of
Association prescribe another term. Extension of the term of office of a member of the Management
Board shall not be decided earlier than one year before the planned date of expiry of the term of office,
and not for a period longer than the maximum term of office prescribed by the law or the Artficies of

Association

A member of the Management Board may be removed by resolution of the Supervisory Board of AS
Kalev regardless of the reason. Righis and obligations arising from a contract concluded with the
member of the Management Board shall terminate pursuant to the contract. A member of the
Management Board may resign from the Management Board with good reason if he or she gives
notice of his or her resignation to the Supervisory Board and, if this is impossible, submits a relevant
application to the registrar of the commercial register. With good reason, a court may appoint a new
member to replace a removed member of the Management Board on the petition of the Supervisory
Board, a shareholder or other interested person. The authority of the court-appointed member of the
Management Board shall continue until appointment of a new member of the Management Board by
the Supervisory Board. The members of the Management Board of AS Kalev shall be appointed for a
term of three years in accordance with the Articles of Association of AS Kalev. If the Management
Board has more than two members, the Supervisory Board of AS Kalev shall elect the Chairman of the

Management Board amongst the members of the Management Board.

Pursuant to the Commercial Code, a resclution on amendment of the Articles of Association shall be
adopted if at least two-thirds of the votes that participate in the meeting are in favour. A resolution on
amendment of the Articles of Association shall enter into force as of the making of a corresponding

8
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entry in the commercial register. The Articles of Association of AS Kalev have not prescribed a greater
majority requirement. AS Kalev only has one type of share.

AS Kalev may be represented in all legal acts by any member of the Management Board. Under the
Articles of Association, if the Management Board of AS Kalev has three or more members, the public
limited company may be represented in all legal acts by the Chairman of the Management Board
alone, or by other members of the Management Board fogether with the Chairman of the Management
Board. Pursuant to the Commercial Code, joint representation shall apply with regard to third persons
only if it is entered in the commercial register. The members of the Management Board of AS Kalev
shall not have the right to issue or repurchase shares. No agreements have been concluded between
AS Kalev and its Management Board members or employees, stipulating any monetary compensation
in connection with the takeover set forth in section 19 of the Securities Market Act.

A coniract of purchase and sale of shares was concluded on 20 September 2007 between AS Kalev
and Alta Capital Partners 5.C.A on the transfer of the shares of AS Kalev Paide Tootmine, AS Kalev
Chocolate Factory, AS Kalev J&hvi Tootmine, AS Vima and OU Maiasmokk. Since Alta Capital
Partners S5.C.A failed to pay the purchase price for the shares by the established term (30 May 2008),
the seller did not transfer the shares which formed the object of the contract of purchase and sales. AS
Kalev thus considered the contract of purchase and sale, concluded with Alta Capital Partners S.C.A

as terminated.
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4. Economic activities and financial resulis

AS Kalev remains one of the most reputable companies in the eyes of people living in Estonia, as
revealed by the prominence and reputation survey conducted among major Estonian companies by
TNS Emor in April 2008. The survey was conducted among about fifty of the most reputable local
companies for the ninth year in a row. According to the latest poll, Estonians consider Kalev the most
agreeable company after AS Hansapank (the survey was conducted before the bank’s name change),
with respect to both attitude scales and general mindset as well as authority image. The results of the
suivey conducted by TNS Emor reveal that, according o Esionian residents, Kalev has been the most

reputable company for the past five years, with an average rating of 8.1 points.”

AS Kalev's financial results for the financial year 2007/2008 were affected by several factors, including
the group's rapid expansion into other fields of activity, the effect of macroeconomic conditions on the
decrease in demand and increase in factor prices, reorganisation of the product portfolic and group

restructuring, which was launched in the previous period.

The net sales and net profit of AS Kalev Group companies for the financial year 2007/2008 are shown
in the below tables (in thousands of EEK and euros) separately for each company. Comparative data
is given for 14 companies. The financial indicators of the subsidiary Kalev Merchant Services Ltd have
not been consolidated, since the balance sheet volume of the subsidiary only makes up less than
0.5% of the parent company’s turnover. Data on associated companies is not included in the tables.
The data on AS Kalev Paide Tootmine, AS Kalev Real Estate Company, AS Kalev Meedia and AS
Uniprint alsc include the corresponding financial results of their subsidiaries.

Net sales Net profit

2007 /2008 2006/ 2007 200772008 2006/ 2007
EEK 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months
AS Kalev®* 433 144 479 75 894 -62 792
AS Kalev Paide Tootmine* 262 337 315726 8 505 29 407
AS Kalev REC* 417 249 87 518 79 560 79373
AS Kalev Johvi Tootmine 45 025 40 575 -3 381 -3 877
OU Maiasmokk 7 866 7121 258 916
AS Vilma 32937 29503 188 -1 316
AS Kalev Chocolate Factory 527 083 452 182 6890 23614
OU Sugarstar 5934 3613 -2 343 -1 665
AS Inreko Press™* 0 3 853 -335 -288
OU Olliwood*** 0 4911 -668 -1 852
OU Eksklusiv 3 666 1350 -1702 -1 305
AS Kalev Meedia® 18 630 1431 -58 106 -558
AS Uniprint® 116 941 54 755 1480 2294
QU AgriStock 25062 0 -12 698 0

" TNS Emor applies a 10-point scale for the survey, with 1 being "very negative" and 10 "very positive”

10
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* consolidated

** galculated change in turnover, as a result of which production activities previously attributed to AS
Kalev have been attributed to AS Kalev Chocolate Factory since §1.07.2008, and sale of goods since
01.09.2008.

*** the activities of subsidiaries involved in the media segment have been attributed to AS Kalev
Meedia since 01.06.2007.

Net sales Net profit

2007 /2008 2006/ 2007 2007 /2008 2006/ 2007
EUR 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months
AS Kalev** 28 9234 4851 -4 013
AS Kalev Paide Tootmine® 16 766 20179 544 1879
A5 Kalev REC* 26 667 5593 5085 5073
AS Kalev Johvi Tootmine 2878 2593 -216 -248
OU Maiasmokk 303 455 16 -59
AS Vilma 2105 1886 12 -84
AS Kalev Chocolate Factory 33687 28 900 440 1509
OU Sugarstar 379 231 -150 -68
AS Inreko Press** 0 246 -21 -18
Ol Olliwoadt G 314 -43 -118
OU Eksklusiv 234 86 -109 -83
AS Kalev Meedia® 1191 A -3714 -36
AS Uniprint* 7474 3499 95 147
Ol AgriStock 1602 0 -812 0

* consolidated

** caiculated change in turnover, as a result of which production activities previously attributed to AS
Kalev have been attributed to AS Kalev Chocolate Factory since 01.07.2008, and sale of goods since
01.09.2006.

*** the activities of subsidiaries involved in the media segment have been aftributed to AS Kalev
Meedia since 01.06.2007.

Important factors contributing to the resulis of core activities of AS Kalev Group for the financial year 2007-2008
are the following:

Y EEK EUR

Increase in revenue 45.7% 422 693 27 015
Increase in operating profit 118% 81 659 5219
Increase in domestic revenue 77,%% 455 983 29143
Increase in export revenue -10,0% -33 289 -2 128
Change in revenue from dairy

products -7.3% -21 859 -1 397
Change in revenue from

confectionery products 11.5% 44 323 2833

The consolidated net sales of AS Kalev for the financial year 2007/2008 amounis to 1,348 million EEK (86,2
million EUR), - i.e. 46% growth compared with the net sales of the previcus financtal year. The substantial
increase reflects Kalev Group’s expansion, — an outcome of implementing the activity plans set out in the
previous period. The consolidated net profit for the financial year 2007/2008 amounted to 97,9 million EEK (6,20
mitlion EUR}; compared to 30,4 million EEK {1,95 miliiocn EUR} in the comparative period.

11
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Important facfors contributing to the consolidated financiat resulis of AS Kalev Group for the financial year 2007-
2008 are the following:

1. Almost 46% increase in net sales of goods and services compared to the comparative period;
2. 16% increase in consolidated gross profit compared to the comparative period,

3. The importance of domestic revenue has increased — almost 70% of sales are from Estonia, whereby
the importance of exported decreased from 36% in the comparative peried 1o 30% in the current period;

4. the revenue from media and event marketing has increased rapidly — sales of those segments has
doubled, however the result of afore mentioned business segments are still negative;

5. the realization in the real estate segment has tripled compared to the comparative period — various
projects initiated in previous years were launched. The focus from residential and commercial space
development has moved to public sector real estate. In conclusion, the real estate segment proved to be
one of the most significant business segments during the financiat period;

6. 2% nominal increase was achieved in sales of grocery segment, the most significant increase was in

sales of sugar- and chocolate confectionery product segment (11.5% o the comparative period)

AS Kalev has slightly increased its gearing in order to finance its development. Company issued bonds to
refinance the obligations of its core activity. The increase in current assets eased the financial pressure and
increased the current ratio of the Group {see the table below). The increase in finance leverage was caused by
increasing liabilities of the Group followed by the increase in financial expenses. However, the increase in sales of
goods exceeded the Group’s financial expenses. Therefore the overall growth of financial leverage has been

marginal.

In terms of expense items, the biggest growth — one third on annual basis - took place in administrative expenses.
However, it will remain 11 percent point below the increase that took place in the previcus vear, This growth has
been caused by the current period frends in the macro-economy as well as by the expansion of activities to
various seclors.

The 44% growth in personnel expenses of Kalev Group has been largely caused by the number of employees,
that increased by more than one third and by the inflationary environment of the Estonian labour market. AS
Kalev Group employed an average of 1,184 people in the financial year 2007-2008; in the comparative year the
Group employed 879 people as an average.

An overview of the risks (including both financial and non-financial risks} affecting the economic activities of AS
Kalev, and corporate risk management, has been provided in Note 25.

The profitability of the Group has improved compared to the previous period (see net profit margin indicators in
the following table). Return on assets (RCA) has more than doubled compared to the previous pericd, reaching
6.4% of consolidated financial resuits of Group.

The most important financial ratios of AS Kalev Group™:
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AS Kalev Group

01.07.2007- 01.07.2006-

30.06.2008 30.06.2007
Current ratio 0.46 0.61
Financtal gearing 0.74 0.80
Asset turnover ratio 0.86 0.79
Net profit margin (%) 7.26% 3.3%
ROA (%) 8.27% 26%

* The financial ratios have been calculated as follows:

Current ratio = current assets/current liabilities

Financial gearing = total liabilities/average total assets

Asset turnover ratio = revenue/average iotal assets

Net profit margin = net profit/revenue * 100%

Return on assels (ROA) = net profitfaverage total assets * 100%
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4. Product market and sales

4.1. Sales volume

As regards volume, the iotal sales of AS Kalev's confectionery and dakry products amounted to 21,988
tons in the financial year 2007/2008 (21,633 tons in the previous financial year). This constitutes 1.6%
real growth, year-on-year. Stili, the product sales dynamics are different for different groups of goods:
in the confectionery segment, AS Kalev's sales decreased by 6.8% (the total cutput for the financial
year amounied o 9,312 fons, compared fo the 9,990 tons in the previous financial year). In the dairy
product segment, total sales increased by 8.8% (a total of 12,876 tons, compared fo the 11,643 tons in
the last financial year).

4.2. Confectionery products

According to the retail trade survey conducted by AC Nielsen in June/July 2008, AS Kalev Chocolate
Factory is the Esfonian market leader in the chocolate and sugar confectionery segmeni: The survey
revealed that Kalev's market share is nearly 37%, as regards turnover, and 41% as regards volume
{(33% and 39% in the comparative period, respectively). Compared o the previous period, the
company’'s market share increased the most in the chocolate candy category, with the market share
rising to 53% as regards turnover and 65% as regards volume. The market share also increased in the
boxed chocolate category, with the share amounting to 32% as regards turnover and 35% as regards
volume. Kalev maintained its market share in the chocolate bar category at 54% as regards turnover
and 55% as regards volume. In the domestic biscuit market, Kalev Group's market share was
approximately 9% in the period (on par with last year), with the market share as regards volume
exceeding 11%, ranking Kalev third among manufacturers in the segment. According to AC Nielsen,
the total sales of AS Kalev rank the company second on the Baltic sweets market, with the market

share amounting fo 12% as regards turnover and 14% as regards volume.

As a resylt of active product development, the company launched a total of 86 new products in the
financial year 2007/2008 (including 36 products in the sugar and chocolate confectionery segment and
50 products in the flour confectionery segment). The turnover of new products amounted to 10% of the

total turnover in the period.

Three new flavours were launched in the Kalev brand chocolate series: dark chocolate with raspberry
(100g), mitkk chocolate with whole hazeinuts (200g) and white chocolate with cranberry and coconut
{100g). The Kalev brand 200-gram chocolate series saw two new additions — dark chocolate with
raspberry {previously marketed in 100g bars} and milk chocolate with cookie pieces and plum, The
company also launched a new Kalev Special chocolate series — white chocolate with cashews (50g),
milk chocolate with hazelnuts {(50g) and milk chocolate in three different packages (50g, 100g, 300g).

Two new products — cocoa flavoured chewing candy and fruit flavoured chewing candy — were
introduced in the Draakon chewing candy series. The Kalev Toffee series also saw two additions: the
Kalev Toffee Cocoa toffee with cookie pieces (150g) and Kalev Toffee Mix (475g). The company also
faunched a new caramel candy - the Kalev Caramel green apple flavoured hard candy with vitamin C

{in 150 g and 2 kg packaging). New candy in the Kalev Praline series included the tiramisu-flavoured
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praiine candy, praline candy with almond, praline candy with strawberry, plum-flavoured praline candy
as well as praline candy with coffee and caramelised nuts. Black currant and plum-flavoured candy
(175g) was added to the Kalev Marmalade series. The boxed chocolate candy series saw new praline
candy products — Tallinna Vanalinn {(175g), Kannel (350g), Kalev Finest Pralinés - selection of praline
candy (350g} and the Kalev Finest Pralines tiramisu-flavoured praline candy (85g). In the giftbox
series, the company launched new dragee products: the tiramisu-flavoured cocoa-coated almonds,
cherry in milk chocolate and hazelnut in milk chocolate in Kalev Dragee 130-gram packages. Three of
the most popular products in the Kalev Praline series — the tiramisu flavoured candy, candy with
almonds and candy with cashews — were also launched in 150-gram giftboxes and in a mixed 350-
gram package.

As regards volume, Kalev Group's total sate of sugar and chocolate confectionery products amounted
to 9,312 tons in the financial year 2007/2008. This constitutes a 6% decrease, compared to the fotal

volume of sales of confectionery products in the comparative period.

At the same time, the dynamics of the sale of confectionery producis was different for different product
groups: quicker-than-average growth could be seen in the sale of chocolate bars (25%), dragee (21%)
and boxed chocolate candies (15%); the sale of candy increased by 8% compared to the last financial
year. The biggest growth (as regards volume), compared fo the same period in the last financial year,
could be seen in the sale of chocolate bars (+22%). The same of boxed chocolate candy increased by
15%, while the sale of candy decreased by 5%. Christmas sales were a great contributor o the total
sale of confectionery products: in the last few months of 2007, AS Kalev Chocolate Factory sold & total
of over 250 tons of (i.e. nearly 440 thousand) Christmas packages of different size and contents. This
constitutes a 23% (i.e. over 46 tons) growth, compared to the same period last financial year. Total
Christmas sales amounted to 550 tons, with candy packages 45%, chocolate bars 29%, gingerbread
cookies 18% and boxed chocolate candy 8%. The Christmas selection included 37 products with

different thematic designs.

in the pastry and flour confectionery group, the company launched a total of 19 different pastry
products under "Linda", "Kalevipoeg" and "Sakala” trademarks in the financial year 2007/2008. Kalev
faunched four new pastries under the "Linda" trademark: cherry pie (3x55 @), flaky cheese pastry
(2x55 ¢g), curd pie (3x60 g) and vanilla rolls (3x60 ). The classic "Linda" curd cake (250 g) was added
to the coffee cake selection. The company aiso launched a new muffin. A new selection (a total of 14
products) of cakes was launched under the "Linda" trademark, with the group's cake portfolio seeing
the addition of three new flavours—-the peach cheesecake (850 g}, cheesecake (700g) and chocolate
cheesecake {730g). The popular "Vilma" flour mix series saw two new additions—-the thin crust pizza
powder {(400g) and the vanilla-flavoured cake powder (350g). In the biscuit segment, all biscuits have
a new visual and packaging. The tiramisu-flavoured biscuits (180 g) were added to the product
portfolio, with "Nisuklikiipsis" biscuits with raspberry and pumpkin seeds added io the low-calorie
series with healthy ingredients,

The total volume of sale of flour confectionery products (including pastry products, biscuits and flour
mixes) for the financial year 2007/2008 amounted to 2,956 tons. This constitutes a 23% decrease from

the total sales of flour confectionery products in the comparative period. Similarly to sugar and
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chocolate confectionery segments, different sales dynamics can be distinguished among the product
groups of the flour confectionery segment: for instance, the total volume of sale of flour mixes
increased by nearly 17%, compared to the comparative period, and the sale of biscuits by 9%. The

share of export is immaterial in the flour confectionery segment.

In the first haif of the financial year 2007/2008, a majority (88%) of the confectionery product output
(i.e. sugar, chocolate and flour confectionery products) was sold at the domestic market, with export
amounting 1o 12% of the turnover (8% in the last financial vear). Expori sales of confectionery
products increased by 80%, compared to last year. In the financial year, export to Baltic countries
made up more than half of Kalev Group's confectionery product export: 33% was exported to the
Lithuanian market (only 3% in the comparative period) and 26% to Latvia, 22% was sold to Trave!
Trade; 9% to Russia and 8% to Fintand.

4.3. Dairy products

Different dairy products were produced from the crude milk? supplied by AS Kalev Paide Tootmine in
the financial year. Due to the market conditions and production/economic reasons, the company
focused mainly on the production of cream, skimmed milk and condensed skimmed milk (these made
up nearly 77% of the output). AS Kalev Paide Tootmine added higher-fat powders, skimmed milk and
milk concentrate to its list of products in the reporting period.

Due to the unfavourable raw material and finat price situation in Estonia and abroad, the company
temporarily suspended production activities in AS Kalev Paide Tootmine in March 2008. At the same
time, sales activities were continued. From April 2008, AS Kalev Paide Tootmine provides contracting
services, incfuding to AS Tere. These services mainly include manufacturing of products (mainly
powder, fresh cream and drinking milk) which require no milk purchase by the company. Condensed
skimmed milk sales made up neatly 37% of the total sales volume of AS Kalev Paide Tootmine in the
period. The share of cream was 29% and skimmed milk powder 10% of the total sales volume.
Production volume increased by nearly 10.7%, compared to the comparative period, amounting to a
total of 12,676 tons. Nearly two-thirds (nearly four-fifths in the comparative period) of the total output of
AS Kaiev Paide Tootmine was exported to the European Union (mainly Germany).

The increase in the price of stocked milk has had a significant influence on the resulis for the financial
year, as well as on the whote dairy market. According to Statistics Estonia, the average increase in
production prices for agricultural products increased by cne-fifth from last year, with the price of milk
rising by 22%. By the time of preparation of this report, the raw material price increases in Estonia had
ceased.

The main focus of product development in AS Kalev Paide Tootmine lies in the creation of additional
options for enhancing the vajue of the raw material. The company thus made bigger investments than
in the comparative period — the cream production line was improved with automatic sample-takers in

order to get a better sampie of the raw material. The company also implemented methods of analysis

* Stocking of raw material and use of the raw material in the production process took place in the first three
quarters of the financial year; raw materials were not stocked in the fourth quarter, with the company pursuing
service projects.
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for more accurate measurement of the fat content. For enhancing the value of milkfat by offering it in
powdered form, the cream powder production technology was improved: AS Kalev Paide Tootmine
added a homogenisator to the production line, and renewed the powder transportation system to bring
it into line with the requirements for transporting more glutinous powder. The most important
development project focused on creating additional opiion for valuation of skimmed milk and milk in
the production of concentrate (as an alternative to the drying technology), as well as creating ioading
options for the concentrate.

4.4. Real estate activities

AS Kalev pursues real estate management and development activities through its subsidiary AS Kalev
Real Estate Company (hereinafter Kalev REC), and through its subsidiaries and associated
companies. In reai estate activities, the group bases the portfolio formation on the principle of
conservatism. Quick macro-economic changes in the market segment have no significant effect on the
group’s economic results. in the real estate segment, the most important project had to do with the
development activities of the subsidiary OU BCA Center in the reconstruction of five schools within the
framework of the Private Partnership for Tallinn Schools Project (the scheduled term of completion of
three schools was July 2008 and two schools December 2008).

The earlier real estate projects of AS Kalev REC have been further developed - the company has sold
all apartmenis in the 19-apartment building in Marati t&nav in Tallinn, as well as the 25-apartment
building in Hommiku t&nav in Parnu. By the time of preparation of this report, a detailed plan for the
Ringi 56a real estate owned by AS Kalev REC's associate OU Ringi Haldus has been completed,
permitting construction of a 4,600 m” apartment building. Design work on the building has already
commenced. Detailed plans on Kalev REC's registered immovables at Tervise 5 and Parnu mnt 139
{(legal share) have been completed in the volume of the preliminary building design documentation.

In January 2008, Kalev REC concluded a real right contract on the acquisition of 10 apartment
properties in the Tallinn Gld Town (at Kinga 1}. The transaction price amounted to 77 million EEK, of
which the buyer paid 15.4 million EEK prior to the conclusion of the contract, and the remainder after
the presentation of the real right contract to the land registry department. Kalev REC has established a
combined morigage on the acquired apartment properties in the amount of 42 million EEK and 18.6
miliion EEK for the benefit of AS Hansapank.

AS Kalev REC's Bulgarian-based subsidiary EOOD Stude REC is about to complete construction of
the 6,500 m* apariment building in Sofia. A permit for use of the building will be applied by the end of
2008, Brokers have already been appointed for the sale of the apartments (apartments have been on
sale since August 2008).

Although the company's real estate segment has, so far, focused on development of residential and
commercial space, AS Kalev REC is paying increasing attention to the public real estate market. The
Kalev Group's subsidiary involved in the real estate segment is still eager to participate in various

private partnership projects.
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4.5. Media

AS Kalev Meedia and its subsidiary OU Eesti Spordikanal are involved in three segments: print media,
internet and television. AS Kalev Meedia publishes the gossip magazine Just, the financial magazine
Arielu, sports magazines Sporditéht, Basket and Jalka; the fashion and lifestyle magazines Avenii
and Avenid Frofessional, the 1T magazine Praktiline Arvutikasutaja as well as the children's
magazines Muumi and Muumi Mdistatuste ja Véarviraamat. These publications had the following
average print runs in the financial year, Just 13,300, Arielu 5,000, Sporditaht 6,200, Basket 4,500,
Jatka 6,900, Avenia 7,400, Avendd Professional 1,400, Muumi 9,100, Muumi Mdistatuste- ja
Vérviraamat 5,000, Praktiline Arvutikasutaja 4,000, At the same time, actual reader numbers are
remarkably bigger for these publications—according to the Estonian Media Survey conducted by TNS
Emor in the second quarter of 2008, Just had 41,000, Sporditéht 12,000, Aveniili 15,000, Muumi
14,000, Arielu 5,000, Basket 7,000 and Praktiline Arvutikasutaja 7,000 readers.

In the reporting period, the company upgraded the sports magazine Sporditdht. With a new concept
and under the supervision of a new editor-in-chief, the magazine is published as a weekly since
September 2007. To launch the new product, the company organised an extensive advertising
campaign. This was also the first bigger public campaign for AS Kalev Meedia. Major changes were
intfroduced to the contents and format of the gossip magazine Just at the end of 2007. in February
2008, AS Kalev Meedia acquired the T publication Praktiline Arvutikasutaja, with Ando Urbas
remaining as the editor-inchief. AS Kalev Meedia believes Prakiiline Arvutikasutaja has greai
potential-—the magazine can be marketed to an even wider target group.

The company has also completed several bigger projects. In October 2007, a new concept was
developed for the financial magazine Arielu. A new web-based news portal, www kalev.ee, was
completed. In March 2008, the company introduced changes in the design and functionality of the
news portal with the aim of making the portal more attractive and the contents more user-friendly for
the readers. According fo the current statistics, the news portal had an average of 22,516 unigue
visitors per week, 74,477 per month,

The new sports-orientated news and entertainment channel KalevSport was launched by AS Kalev
Meedia's subsidiary OU Eesti Spordikanal on 12 November 2007. According to the TV Audience
Meter Survey conducted by TNS EMOR between 12 November 2007 and 3¢ June 2008 (target group:
Estonian population over the age of 4), the Daily Reach of Kalev Sport was 40,000, the Daily Reach %
was 3.1 and the Daily Share was 0.3%. A total of 446,000 people watched the Kalev Sport channel in
the period.

To create synergy between the different pursuits - print media, Internet, telemedia - and ensure the
consequent increase in content quality, cost efficiency and competitiveness, the different editorial
offices were brought to AS Kalev Meedia's new premises at Tornimae 5 in the heart of Tallinn. The
company aiso completed the photo studio in the reporting period. As of 30 June 2008, 119 people
were employed in Kalev Group's media segment (including 82 in AS Kalev Meedia and 37 in QU
Spordikanal).
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&, Securilies

The shares of AS Kalev have been listed in the secondary list of the OMX Tallinn Stock Exchange
since 12 August 1996. The share has a nominal value of 10 EEK. 23,632,500 shares have been listed
on the stock exchange (AS Kalev's share ISIN number: EE3100002468; abbreviation: KLV1T).

In the period from 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2008, a total of 7.9 miiion shares of AS Kalev were traded,
generating a turnover of 222 million EEK (14.2 million euros). An average of 7 transactions were made
per trading day. The average price for the period amounted o 24.46 EEK (1.58 euras) per share. The
highest price for the period was 31.29 EEK (2 euros), and the lowest price 17.32 EEK (1.1 euros). The
closing price as of 30 June 2008 was 24.25 EEK (1.55 euros) per share. AS Kalev's market
capitalisation increased a little more than 30%, compared to the beginning of the period, amounting to
573 million EEK (38.6 million euros} as of 30 June 2008,

AS Kalev's biggest shareholders as of the end of the financial year 2007/2008 (i.e. on 30 June 2008)
included Rubla AS (73.14% of the shares), Vipes Invest QU (10%) and Moonrider OU (7.52%).
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Figure 1. AS Kalev's share; price and turnover (in EEK) for the financial year 2007/2008 (01.07.07-
30.06.08)
(source: OMX Tallinn Stock Exchange)
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{source: OMX Tallinn Stock Exchange)
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Figure 3. AS Kalev share price and OMX Tallinn index dynamics for the period 01.07.2007-30.06.2008
(AS Kalev's share — grey line, OMX stock index — orange fine; source: OMX Tallinn Stock Exchange)
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6. Urganisation and personnel

6.1. Organisational management

Kalev Group's strategic management has been in accordance with the plan and in line with the strategic choices.
Consequently, the organisation adjusted to the expansion info new segments, as well as the optimizing of its
product portfolic and enhancement of profitability. in order to facilitate the implementation of its strategy, AS Kalev
has made improvements in terms of better combining strategic and operative planning and enhancing

fransparency.

The organisation has also expanded into a new segment — the media. To assure the implementation of
coordinated activity toward changes, a new Group company — AS Kalev Meedia ~ was 1o take over the staff,

assets and product management of the media companies.

6.2. Human resource management

AS Kalev Group's personnel expenses reached to hearly 156, 2 million EEK (9,98 million EEK) and the average
number of employees in the group was 1184. Personnel expenses in terminative business activities amounted tc
106 million EEK (6.77 million EUR) and 881 people were employed in those segments. In the previous
comparative period personnel expenses were 123 million EEK (7,86 million EUR) and the average number
employed in the Group was 879 people. The significant increase in number of employees in Group is based on
the rapid development of media segment, however due to the restructuring in food industry segment in the
beginning of 2008, 42 employees were made redundant. During the period of July 1, 2007 untit June 30, 2008
altogether 58 employees were made redundant from Kalev Group The compensation fee in amount of 1,3 million
EEK (0,08 million EUR) was paid. In the comparative period of the previous financial year 156 employees were
made redundant, who got compensation fee in amount of 0,7 million EEK (0,04 million EUR}

The significant increase in persennel expenses has been largely caused by the need fo offer competitive salary in
Estonian labour market, which experienced a rapid growth of salaries.

The company conducted 77 recruitment competitions and the staff turnover amounted to 12,2%. With the growing
tension between supply and demand on the Estonian fabour market, the staff turnover has not increased and
compared to the previcus financial year the indicator has decreased. Due to restructuring of process flows, the
number of possibie errors has been reduced and therefore risks related to core activities decreased.

Among the biggest projects, installment of personnel-, working hours- and saiary accounting software combined
with training, health and other components, was completed. The upgraded system enables to prepare better
surveys and reports, and also gives better T possibilities to promote personnel administration. The system for
giving instructions to blue-collar workers, for aptitude test, for training and remuneration was developed in relation
to the project “20 Votit" and will be implemented in AS Kalev Chocolate Factory in the next financial vear.

6.3. Quality management

AS Katlev Group companies pursue quality, thus continually condributing to quality management. AS Kalev Paide
Tootmine passed the ISO 2001:2000 regular audit in previous financial year (the company holds the
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correspending BVQl-issued quality cerfificates). AS Kalev, who is expanding business areas has waived itself
from formal re-certification and ISO certificates, while continuing the use of the guality management systemn, and
further development activities in the company.
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7. Corporate Governance Recommendations

Exercising its management practices in legitimate manner, AS Kalev as a fisted company acts in accordance with
Estonian legislation and the requirements of the Tallinn Stock Exchange. AS Kalev acts in accordance with the
following principles: openness and the equal treatment of shareholders. The operative information to the public
and investors is delivered through the webpage of Kalev Group: providing the users with all stock exchange news,
financial reports, historical background, information regarding preduction development, affairs, campaigns etc.
Since the group consist of several bigger subsidiaries, the webpage also refers to relevani contact information.
Kalev's webpage also enables to register online orders from company’'s broad product portfolio and send filled
order to preferred place throughout Estonia.

The Management Board members, nominated by the parent company, are responsible for operative management
of business activities of the companies belonging to the group. The Supervisory Beard members are responsible
for strategic management of various business areas of the group. Outside of Estonia the commercial customs are
supervised by local management. Considering the small number of management team, there has been no need
for the establishment of special committees or other supplementary management bodies. The internal procedures
necessary for the sustainable management of the group are regulated by appropriate rules and prescriptions. The
Management and the Supervisory Board meetings are held on agreed regularity. Risk evaluation and risk
management is regularly performed by internal audit function and its findings are reported to the management.

7.1. Corporate Governance Recommendations Report 2007

The purpose of the Corporate Governance Recommendations established by the OMX Tallinn Stock Exchange
and the Financial Supervision Authorily (harmonized version covering all three Baltic stock exchange since
January 1, 2007) is to change the activity and management of listed company more transparent, to point out the
rights of shareholders to get better distribution of information and effective management of companies. In
accordance with Corporate Governance Recommendations (hereinafier "CGR”), Together with the annual report
AS Kalev presents also a report where the Management Board confirms their compliance with the CGR or
explains the reasons for non-compliance. AS Kalev has complied with the CGR while preparing the annuatl report;
however AS Kalev can not comply with some points of the CGR arising from peculiarities of business of the
company. Following are the points mentioned and explanations for non-compliance:

2.2.1 "The Managemeni Board has more than one member and a Chairman is elected amongst the members.
The Management Board or Supervisory Board establish’ the area of responsibility for each member of the
Management Board, defining as clearly as possible the duties and powers of each board member. The principles
for co-operation between the members of the board is established. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board
concludes a service contract with each member of the board.”

AS Kalev has a single manager, nominated by the Supervisory Board. With the manager a service contract is
concluded where also the duties, obligations and responsibilities of the manager is defined.

The Management Board of majority of AS Kalev subsidiaries consist of two or more members with whom
respective service contracts have been concluded.

2.2.7 ,Base wages, bonuses, resignation compensation, other payable benefits and bonus schemes of each
Management Board member as well as their essential features are disclosed in clear and unambiguous manner
on the website of the Issuer and in the Corporale Governance Recommendations Report. informafion published is
clear and unambiguous if it directly expresses the amount of expense fo the Issuer or the amount of foreseeable
expense as of the day of disclosure.”
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The service fee of the Management Board member is received just by the manager of AS Kalev according to the
contract concluded with the Supervisory Board. The Contract concluded with the manager of AS Kalev defines
base wages (fixed amount every month), however resignation compensations, bonuses or other additional
payments are not provided in the contract.

3.2.5 ,The amount of remuneration of a member of the Supervisory Board is published in the Corporafe
Govermnance Recommendations Report, indicaling separately base and bonus payments (incl. compensation for
termination of contract and other payable benefits).”

The Supervisory Board members of AS Kalev are as follows:

Heino Priimégi, who was nominated as a Supervisory Board member with the resolution of AS Kalev
shareholders on the General Meeting held on December 02, 2004;

Do Suurkask, whose authorily as Supervisory Board member was prolonged uniit December 2, 2009 according
to the resolution of AS Kalev General Meeting held on December 08, 2006;

Marko Kaha, who was nominated as a Supervisory Board member with the resolution of AS Kalev shareholders
on the General Meeting held on December 14, 2005.

Monthly salary (fixed amount in every month) has been decided to the members of AS Kalev Supervisory Board
{see Nate 22). No additional payments or supplementary compensations are paid to the Supervisory Board of AS
Kailev.

5.3 "General strafegy directions of the Issuer as also approved by Supervisory Board are accessible fo the
shareholders on the Issuer's website.”

The Management of the Group is on the opinion that strategy is a part of a business secret and not a subject of
disclosure. However, general directions and material subjects are covered in the management report which is a
mandatory part of the annual report.

5.6 "The Issuer discioses the dates and places of meefings with analysts and presentations and press
conferences organized for analysts, investors or institutional investors on its websife. The [ssuer enables the
shareholders to participate on these evenis and discloses the prasentations on ifs website. The Issuer does not
arrange meetings with analysts and presentations for investors directly before deadlines of publishing financial
reports”,

The group acts in accordance with the principle of equal treatment of shareholders. Mandatory, important and
price sensifive information is first and foremost disclosed in Tallinn Stock Exchange system and then on
company's webpage. In addition, every shareholder has the right to receive information from the company at their
own convenience, and arrangs meetings.

However, the management of the company does not prioritize keeping the time schedules and content of
shareholders’ meetings since the information is limited to public only. The same rule applies to all meetings,
including those held immediately before publishing the financial reports.

B.2. Election of the Auditor and auditing of the Financial Statements

On the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders of AS Kalev on December 20, 2007, an auditor was chosen
for the financial period of 2007-2008. Based on the shareholders decision, the financial statements of AS Katev
for the designated pericd is audited by Ernst & Young Baltic AS. Information about the auditor is obtainable on the
auditor's website. Remuneration of the auditor is stated in the audit contract and as agreed between the parties it

24



AS Kalev Consolidated Annual Report 2007/2008
Transiation of the Estonian Original

is not disclosed. According io the guidelines of the Financial Supervision Authority “Public financial supervision
over the rotation of auditors of certain persons.” from September 24, 2003, the company organizes the rotation of
the auditor, assuring the independence of the auditor and replacing the executive auditor at least after every five
years.
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g, Main activity directions for the financial vear 2007-2008

From different fields of activities of AS Kalev, the dairy production development is executed by AS Kalev Paide
Tootmine. Dairy production is mainly influenced by developments on the world market and by positioning of
company’s product portfolio. The goal of AS Kalev in this fieid is to keep expanding. (e.g. well recognized
companies of QU Pélva Piim Tootmine and AS Tere were acquired after the end of the current financial year) and
to hecome the biggest dairy processor instead of being so called commodity-type producer. Performed technical
wark to design the product portfolio of AS Kalev Paide Tootmine creates additional possibilities o process fat and
gives more opporiunities {o increase export. AS Tere offers one of the broadest ranges of production by having
over 160 different products in its portfolio. OU Palva Piim Tootmine has already specialized on producing
{commodlity} dairy products for export. Afore mentioned changes in consolidating dairy production result from the
goal to become competitive supplier of dairy products in ail Baltic countries.

The development of the second segment in food production of Kalev group — confectionary products — executed
by AS Kalev Chocolate Factory. The aim is to remain on the leader's position in domestic market in both the
sugar and chocolate confectionery segment and hold its position in the Baltic countries’ market In general
product development, the company is pursuing the extension of expiry dates as well as the creation of healthy
products and new flavours. In the chocolate confectionery segment, the company will focus on deveioping
chocolate bars, chocolate candy and boxed chocolate candy. In the sugar confectionery segment, the focus is lie
on chewing candy and toffee. In the pastry and flour confectionery sector, the main focus is on the domestic
market, where over two third of the production is realized. At the same time we can detect potential in biscuit and
flour mix export and therefore the attention in the future will be put in afore mentioned product groups. The
general product development aclivity and equipment investments will suppori mainly the most important product
groups. The goal of expansion is to increase profitability, improve export capacity, increase production efficiency
and decrease the volume of handwork by implementing new equipment. Assortment optimization supports the
profitability increase.

AS Kalev's real estate activities are pursued by AS Kalev REC and its subsidiaries. The past growth in the real
estate sector in Estonia has allowed AS Kalev Group fo actively pursue real estate development and
management. So far, the main attention has focused on residential and commercial space development. In the
future, the company plans to develop its activities in the public sector real estate, including projects in the form of
public-privat partnership. AS Kalev has reassessed its operation strategy due to the sector dynamics and the
recent signals about the changes in the real estate sector.

Significant changes are taking place in media and event marketing sector, a new field of activity for AS Kalev. it is
planned to continue the development of magazines {content and volume), increase the number of readers and
sale of advertisement. Recently a photo-studio was completed to provide publications with operational and high-
quality photo material. In addition to the current activities, we are considering opportunities for expansion in media
sector, including the jaunch of a new publication. The development activities comprise aiso internet news portal
www.kalev.ee and television channel “Kalev Sport” aiming to enhance their market position in media sector. in
addition to focusing on current ielevision cﬂgrm i of news and sport, the development of media segment is open
also to other directions.

Oliver Kruuda
Manager

Tallinn, 3.December 2008/
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY

Hereby 1 take responsibility for the correct preparation of the consolidated financial statements of AS Kalev
(hereinafter “the Parent”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter together as “the Group”) set out on pages 27 to 78 and
cordirm that:

= acceunting policies used in preparing the consolidated financial statements are in compliance with
Internationai Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union;

= the consolidated financial siatements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and the
results of its operations and cash flows;

@ the Group and the Parent are able to continue as a going concern.

Oliver Kruuda
Manager

Tallinn, 3.December 2008

For identification pirposes only
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

for the financial years ended June 30

in thousand EEK in thousand EUR* Motes
2008 2007 2008 2007

Saies of goods {incl. sold property recognized
under inventory) 1326 241 917 616 84 762 58 646
Sates revenue from services 14 647 3480 936 221
Rental income 7510 4629 480 296
Total net sales 1 348 398 925 705 86 178 59 163 5]
Cost of sales -1125 928 -734 235 -71 960 -46 928 7
Gross profit 222 470 194 470 14 218 12 237
Qther operating income 206 807 106 731 13 217 6822 8
Marketing expenses 144 878 117 675 9250 -7 521 7
Administrative expenses 116 207 -87 221 -7 427 -5 574 7
Other operating expenses -17 837 -24 309 -1 121 -1 554 8
Operating profit 150 655 68 996 9629 4 410
Financial income 15 168 4274 969 273 9
Financial expenses 67 448 -42 562 -4 311 -2720
Pretax profit 98 375 30 708 8 287 1963
income tax -431 -282 -28 -18
Met profit for the financial year 97 844 30 426 6 260 1 845
net profit (loss) attributable to minority interest -5 -34 G -2
net profit (loss) aftributable to the shareholders of
the Parent 97 939 30 480 6 260 1947 10
Basic and diluted earnings per share for net profit
(loss) attributable to the sharehclders of the Parent
{in EEK /in EUR) 4.144 1.289 0.265 0.082 10

*{n accordance with the rules of Tallinn Stock Exchange, the main financial statements are presented also in eure (EUR}, which
represents unsudited supplementary information that does not form part of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Eny fontification purposos only
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEEY

as of June 30

in thousand EEK in thousand EUR* Notes
2008 2007 2008 2007

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 103 495 17 337 8615 1108
Receivables 170678 148 050 10 908 9482 11,12
Prepayments 2 149 2853 137 170
Inventories 191 952 218 617 12 268 13972 13, 14
Total current assels 468 274 386 657 29 928 24 712
Nor-current assets
Investment in associstes 30629 129 1957 8 21
Long term financial assets 3828673 3604 24 487 230 11
Investment properties 335990 214 601 21 474 13716 15
Property, plant and equipment 572 024 844 876 36 558 41215 16
Intangiblie assets 20 761 62 635 1327 4 003 17
Total non-current assets 1342 977 925 846 85774 59 172
TOTAL ASSETS 1 810 352 1312 503 115 703 83 884
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Borrowings 696 070 348 317 44 487 22 262 18
Customer prepayments 18 584 1461 1188 93 19
Trade accounts payable and other
payables 304 817 284 439 18 481 18 179 19
Total current liabilities 1019 471 634 217 65 156 40 534
Non-current liahilities
Borrowings 319 489 304 837 20 419 19 483 18
Total non-current fiabilities 318 489 304 837 20 419 19 483
Total liabilities 1 338 960 039 054 85 575 60 017
Equity
Share capital 236 325 236 325 15104 15104
Mandatory legal reserve 5543 4 520 354 257
Revaluation reserve 106 215 111 108 6788 7101
Retained earnings 123 251 21 941 7877 1402
Equity attributabie fo the
shareholders of the Parent 471 334 373 395 30 124 23 864 20
Minority interests 58 54 4 3
Total equity 474 392 373 449 36 127 23 867
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1810 352 1312 503 116 703 83 884

* In accordance with the rules of Taiinn Stock Exchange, the main financial statements are presented aiso in euro {EUR), which
represents unaudited suppiementary information that does not form part of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

for the financial years ended June 30

in thousand EEX in thousand EUR*?
2008 2007 2008 2007 Motes

Operating aciivities

Pretax profit 98 375 30708 G 287 1963
Adiustments to profit:

Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible

and intangible assets 51 412 26789 3286 1840 18,17
Gain from the revaluation of investment properties -33 850 -90 4886 -2 163 -5 783 8
Profit {ioss) from disposals of non-current assets ' -13 697 -13 128 -875 -839 8
Allowance of accounts receivable and inventory 8011 10 045 512 642

Financial income -15 168 -4 274 -969 -273

Financial expenses 67 448 42 562 4311 2720

Changes in assets related to operating activities:

Inventories 26 665 28777 1704 1839 13
Receivables <377 241 6 981 -24 110 446 1
Other 18 514 -87 1183 -6

Changes in liabilities reiated to operating activities:

Trade accounts payable and other payables ~38 655 -58 582 -2 470 -4 383 18
Customer prepayments 17 123 -26 360 1084 -1 685 18
Decrease in non-current assets due o de-consolidation 88613 0 5663 0

Decrease in fiabilities due to de-consolidation -13 883 0 -887 0

Change from subsidiary to an associate 30 480 0 1948 0

Income tax paid -713 0 -46 0

Net cash from operating activities -86 570 -55 053 -5 533 -3 518

investing activities

Acguisition of subsidiaries and other long term shares =10 250 -34 541 -655 -2 208
Proceeds from disposals of non-current assets ' 30100 31619 1924 2021 8,15,16
Purchases of non-current assets ' 145 410 -67 908 -9 293 -4 340 15,18
Loans granted ~31 547 -5 803 -2 016 =371
Repaymenis of granted loans 47 266 7726 3021 494
Interests received 16 681 2 071 1 066 132
Net cash used for investing activities -93 160 -66 836 -5 §h4 -4 272

Financing activities

Repayments of borrowings -215 441 -182 522 ~13 450 -11 665
Borrowings received and issued bonds 628 520 475 156 40 170 30 368
Repayment of finance lease liabilities -87 385 -92 062 -5 584 -5 884
Change in overdraft 2897 -29 091 172 -1 859 18
Interests paid 57 523 -42 335 -4 316 -2 706
Net cash from financing activities 265 888 129 148 16 293 8 254
Total net cash flow 86 158 7 257 § 506 484

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the

period 17 337 10 080 1108 644
Change in cash and cash equivalents 86 158 7 257 5 506 454
Cash and cash eduivalents at the end of the period 103 485 17 337 6 615 1108

Ti.e., property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investment properties.
* In accordance with the rules of Tallinn Stock Exchange, the main financial statements are presented also in euro (EUR), which
represents unaudited supplementary information that does not form part of the Group's consolidaed financial statements.
e . For identification purposes only
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the financial years ended June 30

in thousand EEK

As of June 30, 2006

Transfer from revaluation reserve {o
retained earnings

Impairment of assels

Net profit for the financial year
Total recorded changes in
2006/2007

As of June 30, 2007

Transfer from revaluation reserve to
retained earnings (noie 5.10)

Transfer {0 legal reserve
Net profit for the financial year

Totai recorded changes in
2007/2008

As of June 30, 2008

Consolidated Annual Report 2007/2008
Transitation of the Estonian Original

Equity attributable fo the shareholders of the Parent

Manda-
tory Revalu-

Share legal ation Retained Minority Total

capital reserve reserve earnings Total interests equity
236 325 4020 116 315 «13 225 343 435 88 343523
o -4 707 4707 ] 0 0
-500 0 500 o -560
0 30 460 30 460 -34 30 426
0 0 -5 207 35 167 25 860 -34 29 926
236 325 4 020 111 108 21842 373385 54 373 449
0 -4 893 4 893 G 0 0
1523 0 «1 523 0 0 0
¢ 0 97 939 97 939 97 944
0 1523 -4 893 101 309 87 939 5 97 944
236 325 5 543 106 215 123 281 471 334 58 471392

Additional informaticn on the share capital has been presented in Note 20, Information on the formation and potential uses of
the mandatory legal reserve and the revaluation reserve has been presented in Note 5.17.
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in thousand EUR* Equity attributabie to the shareholders of the Parent
Manda-
tory Revalu-
Share legal ation Retained Minority Total
capital reserve reserve earnings Total inferests equity
As of June 30, 2006 15 104 257 T 434 -845 21 949 8 21 8588

Transfer from revaluation reserve to

retained earnings 0 0 -301 301 0 0 ¢
Impairment of assets (note 16} 0 0 -32 0 -32 0 -32
Net profit for the financial year 0 0 0 1 947 1947 -2 1945
Total recorded changes in

2006/2607 0 0 -333 2248 1815 -2 1913
As of June 30, 2007 15 104 257 7101 1402 23 864 4 23 867

Transfer from revaluation reserve to

retained earnings {note 5.10} 0 Q -313 313 0 0 G
Transfer to legal reserve 0 97 ¢] -87 0 0 0
Net profit for the financial year 0 G 0 6259 § 259 1 6 260
Total recorded changes in

2007/2008 0 g7 -313 8 475 6 259 i 6 260
As of June 30, 2008 15 104 354 6 788 7877 30124 4 30 128

* In accordance with the rules of Tallinn Stock Exchange, the main financial statements are presented also in euro (EUR), which
represents unaudited supplementary information that does not form part of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

The consalidated financial statements of AS Kalev and its subsidiaries for the year ended June 30, 2008 were
authorized for issue by the Manager on 3 December 2008. According to the Estonian Business Code, the annual
report, including the consolidated financial statements, prepared by the Management Board and approved by the
Supervisory Board, is authorized by the Shareholders’ General Meeting.

AS Kalev is a limited company incorporated and domicited in Estonia. AS Kalev shares are listed in the Investors’
List of Tallinn Stock Exchange. The principal activities of the Group are the production and sales of different food
products, publishing magazines, printing service and the developing of real estate. The structure of the Group as
of June 30, 2008 has been disciosed in Note 21.

AS Kalev address is Tornimée 5, Tallinn, 10145, Republic of Estonia.

NOTE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Internationaf
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.

The Estonian kroon (EEK), which is pegged to euro (EUR) with the exchange rate of 1 EUR = 15.6466 EEK, is
the Parent's functional currency and the presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. All other currencies are considered to be foreign currencies. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in thousands of the Estonian kroons except when otherwise indicated. Pursuant to the requirements of
Tallinn Stock Exchange, the main financial statements (i.e., balance sheet, income statement, cash flow
statement and statement of changes in equity) are presented also in eurcs (rounded to the nearest thousand);
this represents supplemenial information, which does not form a part of the Group's consolidated financial
statements. As the Estonian kroon is pegged to euro with the fixed exchange rate, no foreign exchange rate
differences arise in the translation of the financial statements from the presentation currency to the supplemental
information in Euro.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except investrnent
properties, which are measured at fair value and land and buildings under property, plant and equipment, which
are measured at revalued amount.

According to the Estonian Accounting Act the financial statement of the Parent that are not a required part of the
consolidated financial statements are presented in consolidated financial statements (see Note 29) , which is not
a required part of the consolidated financial statements prepared under international Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union. These statements have been prepared using the same accounting
methods and measurement bases that were used for the preparation of the conselidated financial statements,
except for investments into subsidiaries {see Note 3 and 5.20).

2.1 Basis of consolidation

The Parent and its subsidiaries compose the consoclidation group (hereinafter together also as the Group). A
subsidiary is an entily that is controlled by the Parent. Generally, a subsidiary is considered o be under the
control of the Parent, when the Parent owns, directly or indirectly (through other subsidiaries), more than half of
the voting power of an entity or the Parent has otherwise power to govern the financial and operating policies of a
subsidiary under a contractual agreement or otherwise. For identification %’f”fi‘f}\?% only
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Subsidiaries are consolidated line-by-ine from the date of acquisition and continue to be consolidated untii the
date that such control ceases. For the consolidation purposes, the financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period.

All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealized profits and losses on iransactions between Group's
companies have been eliminated in full in the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized losses are eliminated
unless costs cannot be recovered.

Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group and
are presented separately in the consolidated income statement and consolidated balance sheet (within equity).

New subsidiaries (business combinations) are included in the consolidated financials statements using the
purchase method of accounting. Accordingly, the consolidated income statement and consolidated cash flow
statement inciude the results and cash flows of new subsidiaries for the period starting from their acquisition date.
The purchase consideration is allocated to the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
libilities assumed on the date of acouisition. The acquisition cost exceeding fair value of acquired net assets is
accounted under goodwill (see accounting principle 5.11). Goodwill represents a payment made in anticipation of
future economic benefits from assets of an acquire that are not capable of being individually identified and
separately recognized. i acquisition cost is less than fair value of acquired net assets the differenice is recorded
as income immediately.

In the case of the acquisition of minority interests, the entire difference between the acquisition cost and the book
value of the minority interests (in the consolidated balance sheet) is taken directly to the equity attributable to the
sharehoiders of the Parent.

NOTE 3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial report is composed hased on consistency and comparability principles, which means
that the Group continually applies same accounting principies and presentation. Changes in accounting policies
and presentation take place only if these are required by new or revised IFRS standards and interpretations or if
new accounting policy and / or presentation give more objective overview of financial position, financial results
and cash flows of the Group.

3.1 Changes in the presentation and accounting principles

The accounting policies and presentation adopted in preparation of the current financial statements are consistent
with those of the previous financial year. In addition, the following new/revised standards have been adopted,
which had no material effect on the financial statements:

iIFRS 7 Financial instruments; Disclosures; IFRS 7 requires disclosures that enable users to evaluate the
significance of the Group’s financial instruments and the nature and extent of risks arising from those financial
instruments;

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This amendment requires the Group to make new disclosures to
enable users of the financial staiements to evaluate the Group’s objectives, policies and processes of managing
capital;

IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and impairment. This interpretation establishes that an entity must not
reverse and impairment loss recognised in a previous interim period in respect of goodwill or an invesiment in
either an equity instrument or a financiai asset carried at cost;

IFRIC 11 1FRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share Transactions. This interpretation requires arrangements whereby
an employee is granted rights to an entity’s equity instruments fo be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme,
even if the enlity buys the instruments from another parly, or the shareholders provide the equity instruments

For identification puiposes aidly
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needed. The Group amended its accounting policy accerdingly. The Group has not issued instruments caught by
this interpretation.

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Agreements. The interprefation addresses how service concession operators
should apply existing International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) fo account for the obligations they
undertake and rights they receive in service concession arrangements. Effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2008. The Group has appiled the principies outlined in IFRIC 12 already in its 2007/2008
financial statements. Please refer to Note 27 for more details.

3.2  Mew IFRS standards and interpretations

In the opinion of the management of the Group, some of the new or revised IFRS standards and their
interpretations issued by the time of preparing the current consolidated financial statements, but nof effective yet,
and not applied early by the Group, will have an effect on the value of the assats and liabilities of the Group as of
June 30, 2008 and will also affect disclosures. These standards and interpretations wili be applied starting from
their effective date or following endorsement by the European Union if later:

IAS 23 Borrowing costs (revised). The revised IAS 23 requires capitalisation of borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. The revised IAS 23 will be effective
for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2008 and is expected fo have an impact on the financial
statements of the Group;

IFRS 8 Operating segments. [FRS 8 was issued in November 2006 and is effective for financial years beginning
on or after 1 January 2009. [FRS 8 requires entities to disclose segment information based on the information
reviewed by the entity’'s chief operating decision maker. The Group has determined that the operating segments
disclosed in IFRS 8 will be the same as the business segments disclosed under 1AS 14. The impact of this
standard on the other segment disclosures is slill o be determined. As this is a disclosure standard, it will have no
impact on the financial position or financial performance of the Group when implemented in 2009;

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes. |FRIC Interpretation 13 becomes effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2008. This Interpretation requires customer foyalty award credits to be accounted for as a
separate component of the sales transaction in which they are granted and therefore part of the fair value of the
consideration received is allocated &0 the award credits and deferred over the pericd that the award credits are
fulfilled. The Group expects that this interpretation will have no impact on the Group's financial statements as no
such schemes currently exist.

IFRIC 14 IAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction.
IFRIC Interpretation 14 hecomes effective for annual perods beginning on or after 1 January 2008, This
Interpretation provides guidance on how to assess the limit on the amount of surplus in a defined benefit scheme
that can be recognised as an asset under I1AS 19 Employee Benefits. The Group expects that this Interpretation
will have no impact on the financial position or performance of the Group as all defined benefit schemes are
currently in deficit.

IFRIC 15 Agreement for the Construction of Real Estate. IFRIC 15 becomes effective for financial years beginning
on or afier 1 January 2009. The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively. It clarifies when and how revenue
and related expenses from the sale of a real estate unit should be recognised if an agreement between a
developer and a buyer is reached before the construction of the real estate is completed. Furthermore, the
interpretation provides guidance on how to determine whether an agreement is within the scope of 1AS 11 or IAS
18.

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net investment in a Foreign Operation. IFRIC 16 becomes effective for financial years
beginning on or after 1 October 2008. The interpretation is to be applied prospectively. [FRIC 16 provides
guidance on the accounting for a hedge of a net investment. As such it provides guidance on identifying the
foreign currency risks that qualify for hedge accounting in the hedge of a net invesiment, where within the group
the hedging instruments can be held in the hedge of a net investment and how an entity should determine the
amount of foreign currency gain or loss, refating to both the net investment and the hedging instrument, to be
recycled on disposatl of the net investment.

. Foridantification purposes omly
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tFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Repotting Standards and 1AS 27Consclidated and Separate
Financial Statements. The amendments to IFRS 1 allows an entity fo determine the ‘cost of investments in
subsidiaries, joinfly controlled entifies or associates in ifs opening IFRS financiai statements in accordance with
tAS 27 or using a deemed cost. The amendment to IAS 27 requires ali dividends from a subsidiary, jointly
controlled entity or associate to be recognised in the income statement in the separate financial statement. Both
revisions will be effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The revision to IAS 27 will have
to be applied prospectively. The new requirements affect only the parent’s separate financial statemert and do
not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements,

IFRS 3R Business Combinaticns and [AS 27R Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. The revised
standards become effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2009. IFRS 3R introduces a number of
changes in the accounting for business combinations occurring after this date that will impact the amount of
goodwill recognised, the reported results in the pericd that an acquisition ocours, and future reported results. 1AS
27R reguires that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control) is accounted for as
an equity transaction. Therefore, such transactions wili no longer give rise to goodwilt, nor will it give rise to a gain
or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well
as the loss of control of a subsidiary. Other consequential amendments were made fo |AS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows, IAS 12 Income Taxes, IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, IAS 28 investment in
Associates and IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. The changes by IFRS 3R and 1AS 27R will affect future
acquisitions or loss of control and transactions with minority interests.

IAS 1 Revised Presantation of Financial Statements. The revised Standard becomes effective for financial years
beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The Standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The
statement of changes in equity will include only details of transactions with owners, with non-owner changes in
equity presented as a single line. In addition, the Standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income: it
presents all items of recognised income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two linked statements.
The Group is still evaluating whether it will have one or two statements.

1AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and J1AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statemenis — Puitable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation. These amendments to IAS 32 and IAS 1 become effective for
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The revisions provide a limited scope exception for puttabie
insiruments to be classified as equity if they fulfil a number of specified features. The amendments to the
standards will have no impact on the financial position or performance of the Group, as the Group has not issued
such instruments.

IAS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement — Eligible Hedged ltems. These amendments to IAS
39 become effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 July 2008. The amendment addresses the
designation of a one-sided risk in a hedged item, and the designation of ihflation as a hedged risk or portion in
particufar situations. It clarifies that an entity is permitted to designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash
flow variability of a financial instrument as hedged item. The Group has concluded that the amendment will have
no impact on the financial position or performance of the Group, as the Group has not entered into any such
hedges.

iFRS 2 Share-Based Payment (Amendments). The IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 2 in January 2008 that
clarifies the definition of a vesting condifion and prescribes the treatment for an award that is cancelled. This
amendment will be effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

improvements to IFRSs. In May 2008, |IASB issued its first omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily
with & view 1o removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. There are separate transitional provisions for each
standard. The following standards have been amended:

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Change in Accounting Estimates and Errors
IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period:
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs

IAS 28 Investment in Associates

IAS 31 Interest in Joint ventures

IAS 36 impairment of Assets L .
o  For identification purposes oly

% ZYFRNST&YOUNG 4
Yor /s ,.jr%ﬁ?%



AS Kalev Consolidated Annuai Report 2007/2008
Transtation of the Estonian Qriginal

IAS 38 Intangible Assets
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disciosures

The Group anticipates that these changes will have no material effect on the financial statements.

NOTE 4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union requires the management of the Group to make estimates and
judgements that affect the reported amounts and accounting policies of assets and liabilities.

Although the estimations and judgements are reviewed by the management consistently and these are based on
the previous experiences and the best knowledge on future trends, the actual outcomes may differ from the
current estimates.

4.1, Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the management of the Group has made the following
judgements, which have a significant effect on the classification of real estate.items.

The classification of real estate items into classes as inventories, investment property or property, plant and
equipment {construction-in-progress) is based on the intention of the management on the future use of the real
estate. The accomplishment of the management's plans depends also on the decisions not controlled by the
Group (i.e., changing registered intended use of land, approving architectural drawings, licence for construction
etc), which may affect the final classification of real estate. Information on the carrying amount of real estate has
been presented in Notes 13, 15 and 18.

The real estate items with the intention on the future use for deveiopment and sale have been classified as
inventories. Real estate items purchased for sale have also heen recognized as inventories,

The aim of the purchase of an investment property is to earn rental income or income from capital appreciation.
The real estate items held for long-term perspective and with several possible intentions on fulure use are also
considered to be investment properties.

The properly being construcied or developed or improved for the future use as commercial spaces ieased out
under cperating lease terms (except these items being re-developed for continued future use as investment
property) have been recorded as constructions-in-progress under property, plant and equipment and after the
completion of work (i.e., after receiving a use permit) have been re-classified to investment property.

Existing investment property that is being re-developed for continued future use as investment property is not
temporarily re-classified fo construction-in-progress.

4.2 Estimation uncertainty

The estimates made by the management of the Group are based on the previous experiences and all information
available by the date of the financial statements authorized for issue. There is either lower or higher risk that the
estimates reported at the balance sheet date and related to value of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses will
change in the future, The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

4.2.1 Contingent liability related to so-called sugar fine
The Tax and Customs Board has made a decision on 17.06.2005, which obligates AS Kalev to remove sugar
stock in the amount of 15.6 thousand tons from the market (i.e. excess stock as of May 1, 2004). AS Kalev filed a
iai i he aforesaid decision, as in the opinion of the ma t, the .G di h
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excess sugar stock as of May 1, 2004. On 06.11.2006 Tax and Customs Board retrospectively invalidated its
decision form 17.06.2005 concerning AS Kalev excess stock. The Tax and Customs Board found, that the
invalidated decision was made on illegitimate basis. On 29.03.2007 the Tax and Customs Board made a decision
- tax notice, in which it charged 135.7 million Estonian kroons from AS Kalev for identified 15.6 thousand tons of
excess sugar stock {as of 01.05.2004). AS Kalev has submitted a complaint on this decision of the Tax and
Customs Board to the Adminisirative Court of Tallinn. In addition AS Kalev has applied for suspension of the
decision — tax notice and the Administrative Court has satisfied this appeai. According to the management's
estimation, it is not probable that the Group will lose this case in courl. AS Kalev continually claims, that they have
declared their sugar stock reserve correctly and did not own 15.6 thousand fons of sugar, identified as excess
stock by the Tax and Customs Board.

For more detatled information on the case, see also Note 24.2.3.
4.2.2 Fair value of fand and buildings under propery, plant and equipment

Land and buildings under property, plant and equipment are revalued to their revalued amount {i.e., fair value)
frequently enough that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount.

The discounted cash flow method has been used as a valuation technigque for determining fair value of buildings.
Estimating the discounted cash flows requires an appraiser to forecast rental income generated by the real estate
and related expenses. In order to calculate the present value of those cash flows an appraiser has to choose a
suitable discount rate, which reflects the time value of money and specific risks related to the assets in the best
way. During 2008 financial year no carrying amounts were revalued by using the discounted cash flows method.
Previous revaluation took place on 30.06.2006 and revalued carrying amount of the buildings amounted 342,719
thousand EEK as of 30.06.2008 (2007 351,352 thousand EEK).

4.2.3 Impairment test of assels

Due to indications of impairment, the Group has performed an impairment test on the assets of pastry, chocolate
and media segments, by comparing the carrying amounts of the segment's assets with recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount of assets is the higher of the two following values: assets’ fair value less costs to seli and
assets’ value in use. The Group verified that the recoverable amount of the segments’ assets {determined by
assets’ fair value less costs to sell) is higher than their carrying amount and there are no needs for impairment
loss. Information on the carying amount of the assets of pastry, chocolate and media segments has been
presented in Note 6.

4.2.4 Impairment test of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill arisen from business combinations is impaired at least on an annual
basis. This requires an estimation of fair value (less costs to sell) or value in use of the cash-generating units to
which the goodwill is aflccated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill as of June 30, 2008 was 19,098
thousand EEK (2007: 62,459 thousand EEK). During the financial year 2008 impairment loss of 4,091 thousand
EEK was recognized. More details have been laid out in Notes 5.11 and 17.

4.2.5 Carrying value of receivables

The Group has granted several unsecured loans, which recoverable amounts depends mainly on whether the
borrower is able to pay its loan back. The book value of unsecured loans as of June 30, 2008 amounts to 38,955
thousand EEK (2007 54,690 thousand EEK). For additional information on loans granted, see Note 11.

4.2 6 tmpairment test of real estate items belonging to property, plant and eguipment

The Group is accounting its land and buildings according to the revaluation method. For that the Group
determines whether revalued fixed assets are impaired on regular basis. This requires an estimation of fair value
(less cosis to sell) or value in use of the cash-generating units where fixed assets are iocating. Estimating the
value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash fows from the cash-generating
unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. For
details see also Note 16,
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NOTE & SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

51 Segment information

The primary segment reporting format is determined to be business segments. A segment has been disciosed as
a separate reportable segment, if its products and services distinctly differ from the products and services offered
by other segments, and it operates as an independent profit centre. The main segments of the Group are
confectionery production and sale, pastries production and sale, production and sale of dairy produets, publishing
of magazines (media), printing service, operations with the real estate and event marketing.

Segment revenue is revenue that is directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of other revenue
that can be allocated on reasonable basis fo a segment, whether from sales to external customers or from
transactions with other segments of the Group.

Segment expense is an expense resuiting from the operating activities of a segment that is directly atfributable o
the segment and the relevant portion of an expense that can be allocated on a reasonable basis {o the segment,
including expenses relating to sales to external customers and expenses relating to transactions with other
segments of the Group. Segment expense does not include general administrative expenses, interest expenses
and other expenses that arise at the Group level and related to the Group as a whole.

Segment result is segment revenue less segment expenses.

Segment assets are those operating assets that are employed by a segment in its cperating activities and that
either are directly attributable to the segment or can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Segment
assets include current assets, investment property, property, plant and equipment and intangibie assets related to
the operating activities. If a particular item of deprecation or amortization is included in segment expenses, the
related asset is also included in segment assets. Segment assets do nof include assets used for general Group or
head-coffice purposes or which cannot be allocated directly to the segment. Segment assets include operating
assets shared by two or more segments if a reasonable basis for allocation exisis.

Segment liabilities are those liabilities that are employed by a segment in its operating activities and that either
are directly attributable to the segment or can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Segment
liabilities include, for example, trade accounds payables and other payables, accrued expenses, customers’
prepayments, provisions and other products and services related liabilities. Segment liabilities do not include
loans, finance leases, bonds and other liabilities related to financing activities. Income tax liability is not also
inciuded in segment labilities.

The secondary segment reporting format is determined to be geographical segments.

5.2 Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed o the
buyer, the revenue and related expenses can be reliably measured and it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group. Sales revenue from services is recorded in the period when the service has been provided
or if service is provided for longer period, completion method is used. Subscription prepayments for magazines
are initally recorded as deferred income and recognised as revenue linearly during the subscription period.
Advertising revenue is recognised in the period when advertisements are published. Until then, prepayments for
advertisements are recorded under "customers’ prepayments” in balance sheet,

Sale of reat estate is recorded when all significant risks related to the asset have been transferred {o the buyer
and seller has no further substantiat acts fo complete under the contract. In general, revenue is recognized when
the real right contract is concluded. Payments received from clients in advance are recorded under "customers’
prepayments” in balance sheet.

For identification purposes only
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Interest income and dividend income is recognized when income is probable and the amount might be reliably
assessed. Interest income is recognized based on effective interest rate. Dividend income is recorded when the
right for claim has occurred.

5.3 Foreign currency fransaction

Transactions in foreign currencies are franslated into the Estonian kroons at the exchange rate quoted by the
Bank of Estonia ruling at the date of the transaction. Mcnetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated into the Estonian kroons at the exchange rate quoled by the Bank of Estonia ruling at
the balance sheet date. Gains and losses from foreign currency fransactions are recorded in the income
statement.

The functional currencies of the foreign subsidiaries Kalev Merchant Services Ltd and Stude REC EQOD is the
currency of their primary economic environment (United States of America and Bulgaria, respectively), which
differs from the functional currency of the Parent. The following exchange rates are used for transiation of
financial statements of these subsidiaries into the Estonia kroons:

«  the assets (incl. goodwili and fair value adjustments arising from business combinations) and liabilities of
these subsidiaries are translated at the rate of exchange guoted by the Bank of Estonia ruling at the
balance sheet date;

= income and expenses are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The exchange differences arising on the translation are taken directly to the equity (under “Foreign currency
translation reserve’).

5.4, Cash and cash equivalenis

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amount
of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in vaiue, i.e,, cash in hand, demand deposits in
banks and time deposits with due date up to 3 months at the time of acquisition.

5.8 Loans and other receivables

Leans and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Receivables include also trade accounis receivable. The Group does not have
financial assets that are classified as fair value through profit or held to maturity financial assets.

L.oans and other receivables are initially recognized at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given, plus
directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial measurement, these financial assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Amortized cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction costs.

if there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and other receivables has been incurred, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Impairment loss on
receivables related to operating activities is recognized under “other operating expenses” and impairment loss on
receivables related to investing activities is recognized under financial expenses.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event ocourring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss
is reversed. Such reversal is recoghized as a reduction of the expense where impairment loss was previously
recognized.
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The derecognition of loans and other receivables takes place when the money is collected, the receivables are
sold or the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay
them in full without material defay tc a third party under a "pass-through” arrangement and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset.

5.5.1 Factoring
Factoring is the sale of receivables. Depending on the type of the factoring contract, the buyer has the right to sell

back the transferred receivable within time agreed (factoring with recourse) or there is no right for resale and all
the risks and rewards associated with receivable are transferred from the seller to the buyer (factoring without
recourse).

Factoring with recourse is recorded as a financing transaction (i.e. the borrowing with collateral): the amount of
receivable is recognised in the balance sheet as a receivable until collection or until expiration of the recourse.
The related liability is recorded similarly {o other borrowings.

Factoring without recourse is recorded as the sale of the receivables. The related expense is recognised as a
financial expense or an allowance depending on whether the aim of the fransaction was to manage the cash flows
or 10 manage credit risk.

5.6  Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value, except investments in equity instruments whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured, which are measured at cost. Fair value changes are recorded in equify. The
Group does not have available-for-sale financial assets.

57 Inventories

inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The net realizable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost necessary io make the sale. Cost of
inventories is assighed by using the weighted average cost method.

Cost of finished goods and work-in-progress consists of cost of the raw materials, direct labour expenses, other
direct expenses and production overheads incurred upon bringing the inventories to their present condition and
focation (based on normai production capacity).

TV program licences are valued at their acquisition cost. Cost of such inventories is assigned by using the
individual cost method. Licences, as well as costs of self-produced programs are expensed after being
broadcasted, while 2/3 is expensed after the first broadcast and 1/3 is expensed after the broadcast has been
repeated.

5.8 Investment in an associate

The Group's investment in its associate is accounted for using the egquity method of accounting. An associate is
an entity in which the Group has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture.

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the balance sheet at cost pius post
acguisition changes in the Group's share of net asseis of the associate. Gooedwill relating to an associate is
included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised. The income statement reflects the share
of the results of operations of the associate. Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.

For the consolidation purposes, the financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting
period. If a associate uses accounting policies other than those adopied by the Group for like transactions and
events in simitar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to its financial statements in preparing the
Group's financial statements
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The Group determines whether it is necessary to recognhise an additional impairment loss of the investment in
associates. The Group determines at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that the
invesitment in associate is impaired. [f this is the case the Group calculates the amount of impairment as being the
difference between the fair value of the associate and the book value and recognises the ameount in the income
statement.

8.9 Investment property

Investment property is property, i.e. land or buildings, held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, and which is
not used for the business activities (production of goods, supply of services and administrative activities) of the
Group. Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including directly related transaction costs (i.e. notary
fees, state duly, fees paid to advisers, and other expenses in order to complete the transaction). Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are siated at fair vaiue. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
values of investment properties are included in the income statement under “other operating income” or “other
operating expenses”. For a transfer from property, plant and equipment to investment property, the positive
difference between fair value at that date and its previous carrying amount is recognized directly in equity under
“revaluation reserve”. Any resulling decrease in the carrying amount of the property is recognised in profit or loss.
However, to the extent that an amount is included in revaluation reserve for that property, the decrease is charged
against revaluation reserve.

5.10 Property, plant and equipment

Properly, ptant and eaquipment items are initially recognized at cost, consisiing of the purchase price and
expenditures directly related to the acquisition.

After initial measurement, land and buildings are stated at revalued amount and other properly, plant and
equipment ifems are siated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.

Subseqguent expenditure relating fo an item of property, plant and equipment that has already been recognized
{e.g. replacements of part of some items) are added to the carrying amount of the assets, if the following criteria
are met, i.e. (a) it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group, and (b}
the cost of the item can be measured refiably. The replaced items are derecognised. All other expenditures are
recognized as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

At the revaluation date, the current cost of land and buildings is repiaced by their fair value at the date of
revaluation and accumulated depreciation is eliminated. Any revaluation surplus is credited to “revaluation
reserve” included in the equity of the balance sheet. However, the increase is recognized in the income statement
to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previcusly recognized in the income
statement. A revaluation deficit is recognized in the income statement, except that a deficit directly offsetting a
previous surplus on the same asset is directly offset against the surplus in the "revaluation reserve”.

Revaluation reserve recorded in equity is transferred to retained earnings during the depreciation period of
revalued assels. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to

retained earnings.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

= Buildings 3 %
= Machinery, equipment and vehicles 10-20%;
»  Computer equipment 30-50%;
= QOther property, plant and equipment 20-30%.

Land is not depreciaied.

The residual value, method of depreciation and useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment are
reviewed at least at each financial year and; if expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are
accounted for as a change in an accounting estimation, i.e. prospectively. . o
T L For Identification purposes only
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The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable {see also the accounting policy 5.13).

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when nro future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (i.e., difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the book value of the item) is included in the income statement (under *other
operating income” or “other operating expenses”).

5141 Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabiiities at the date of acquisition,

After initial recognition, the goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acqguisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unif or group of unifs to which the goodwill is allocated (1)
represenis the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes; and (2) is not larger than a segment based on the Group primary reporting format.

For the accounting policy of impairment, see also Note 5.13.

5.12 Other intangible assels

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are initially recognized at cost. Intangible assets acquired
as part of an acqguisition of a business are recorded separately from goodwill if their fair value can be refiably
assessed as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either a finite or indefinite life. Infangible assets with finite
lives are amoriised over the useful economic life (i.e., over 5 years) on a siraight-fine basis and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired (see the accounting policy
5.13). The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with finite life are reviewed at
each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expecied pattern of consumption of future
economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation pericd or method, as
appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with
finite lives is recognized in the income statement in the expense category consistent with the function of the
intangible asset.

5.12.1 Research and development expenditures

Research costs are expensed as incurred. An intangible asset arising from development expenditure on an
individuat project is capitalized only when the Group can demonstrate (1) the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; (2) its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell
the asset; (3} how the asset will generate future economic benefits; (4) the availability of resources to complete;
and (5) the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.

Following the initial recognition of the development expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the asset fo
be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Any expenditure
capitalized is amoriized over the period of expected future sales from the related project.

The carrying value of development costs is reviewed for impairment annually when the asset is not yet in use or

more freqguently when an indication of impairment arises during the reporting year. For | idantification prposes only
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513 Impairment of assets

The Group assesses ai each balance sheet date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. if
any such indication exists, or when annual impairment test for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate
of the asset's or cash generating unit's recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the
estimated recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair value less costs to sell
and the present value of its estimated future cash flows (i.e., value in use). In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time vaiue of money and the risks specific to the asset. If necessary, external experts
are used for determining the fair value. Impairment losses are recognized in the income statement in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

A previously recognized impairment is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. An assessment is
made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses
may no longer exist or may have decreased. As a result of reversal, the carrying amount of an asset is increased
to the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been
recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized as a reduction of the expense where
impairment loss was previously recognized. impairment losses recognized in relation to goodwill are not reversed
for subsequent increases in its recoverabie amount.

5.14 Financial tiabilities

Financial fabilities (irade accounts payable, foans, accrued expenses, bonds and other short- and tong-term
liabilities) are recognized initially at cost, net of directly attributable transaction costs. In subsequent periods,
financial liabilities are stated at amoriised cost using the effective interest method; any difference between
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the income statement over the
period of the financial liability. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled or expired.

Borrowing costs are recoghized as an expense when incurred {under “financial expenses”).

8.15 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation {legal or constructive} as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obfigation. If the effect of the time value of
maney is material, provisions are discounted using a curreni pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, ihe risk
specific to the liability.

Present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognized because it is not probable that an outflow of
resources of the Group will be required or whose value can not be reliably measured, are considered to be
contingent Hiabilities. Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the balance sheet, but disclosed in the notes fo
the consolidated financial statements.

516 Income tax

According to Estonian income Tax Law the company’s net profit is not subject to income tax, thus there are no
temporary differences between the tax bases and carrying values of assets and habilities that may cause the
deferred income tax. Instead of net profit, all dividends paid by the company are subject to income tax (22/78 of
net dividend paid out before December 31, 2007; 21/79 of net dividend paid / payable out during the calendar
year 2008).
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The Group's potential income tax liability related to the distribution of its retained earnings as dividends is not
recorded in the balance sheet. The maximum possible fax liability related to the payment of the Group's retained
eamings as dividends is disclosed in Note 20.

Income tax from the payment of dividends is recorded as income tax expense at the moment of declaring the
dividends.

In accordance with income tax acts, the Group’s net profit adjusted by temporary and permanent differences
determined in income tax acts is subject to income tax in the USA and Bulgaria {tax rate is 15% in Bulgaria and
22 5% as a minimum in the USA).

In connection with the foreign subsidiaries, deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on
temporary differences at the balance sheet date belween the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax assets are recognized only when it is probable that profit
will be available against which the deferred {ax assets can be utilized.

517 MWandatory legal reserve

Mandatory legal reserve is formed according to the Estonian Commercial Code. At least 5% of the net profit must
be transferred fo the mandatory tegal reserve each financial year, until the mandatory legal reserve amounts to at
least 10% of the share capital. This reserve can be used for covering the loss, if loss cannot be covered from the
distributable shareholder's equity, and for increasing the share capital of the Group. The mandatory legal reserve
cannot be paid out as dividends.

518 Government grants

Government grants are recognized at fair value, where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.

The Group applies the “net method” for the assets acquired with government grants. According to this method,
the asset is recognized at cost less government grant received and hereafter government grants are recorded as
income over the useful life of an asset — as a reduction of depreciation charge.

Government grants received as compensation for expenses are recorded, when related expenses are incurred.
The Group applies the “gross method” for compensation of expenses. According fo this method expenses
compensated and compensation received are presented separately in the income statement. Income related to
government grants are recorded under “other operating income”™.

519 Employee benefits

The Group makes social insurance contributions under the State's health, retirement benefit and unemployment
schemes at the statutory rates in force during the year, based on gross salary payments. The Group will have no
tegal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the statutory fund or the private pension plan cannot
settle their Habilities towards the employees. The cost of these payments is included into the income statement in
the same period as the related satary cost.

5.20 Leases

A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the
leased item. All other lease transactions are treated as operating lease.

5.20.1 Group as a lessee

Finance leases are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the {fair value of the leased assets or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges

and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
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liability. Capitalized leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the
lease term. Operating lease payments are recognized as operating expenses on a straight-ine basis over the
lease term.

5.20.2 Group as a lessor

in case of operafing lease, the leased assets are recorded in the lessor's balance sheet, like other items of
property, plant and equipment and investment properly. Lease income from operating leases is recognized in
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

5.21 Subseqguent events

Material circumstances that have an effect on the valuation of assets and liabilities and become evident between
the balance sheet date and the date of preparing the financial statements, but are related to transactions that took
place in the reporting period or earlier periods, are recorded in the consolidated financial statements.

Subsequent evenis that have not been taken into consideration when valuing the assets and liabilities but have a
materiat effect on the financial results, are disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

5.22 Investments into subsidiaries in the non-consolidated main financial statements of the Parent

The main financial statements of the Parent as required by the Estonian Accounting Act are not prepared as
separate financials statements of the Parent as described in IAS 27. See Note 29 for details.

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost in the non-consolidated main financial statements of the Parent.
Accordingly, the investment is initially recognized at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given
subsequently adjusted for any impairment losses,

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If
stich indications exist, the Group makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount. Where the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is written down o its recoverable amount. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair value less costs to sell and
the present value of its estimated future cash flows (i.e., value in use). Impairment loss is recognized in the
income statement as a financial expense for the period.

Dividends paid by the subsidiaries are recoghized, at the moment when the Group’s right to receive the dividends
is established, as financial income, excluding the part of the dividends disbursed from the free equity accumulated
prior to the acquisition of the investment by the Group. That proportion of the dividends is recorded as a decrease
in the carrying value of the investment.

5.23 Service concession arrangements
The service arrangement presentation principles are based on the guidance in IFRIC 12 and applied if the Group:

(a) contractually obliges to provide the services to the public on behaif of the public sector entity,

(b} the party that grants the service arrangement {the grantor) is a public sector entity, including &
governmental body, or a private sector entity to which the responsibifity for the service has been
devoived.

(c} the Group is responsible for at least some of the management of the infrastructure and related
services and does nof merely act as an agent on hehalf of the grantor.

(d) the contract sets the initial prices to be levied by the Group and regulates price revisions over
the period of the service arrangement.

{e) the Group is obliged to hand over the infrastructure to the granter in a specified condition at the
end of the period of the arrangement, for little or no incremental consideration, irrespective of
which party initially financed it.
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Infrastructure is not recognised as property, plant and equipment of the Group because the contractual service
arrangement does not convey the right to control the use of the public service infrastructure to the Group. The
Company has access to operate the infrastructure to provide the public service on behalf of the grantor in
accordance with the terms specified in the contract.

Under the terms of contractual arrangements the Group acts as a service provider where it constructs or
upgrades infrastructure (construction or upgrade services) used to provide a public service and operates and
maintains that infrastructure (operation services) for a specified period of time.

The Group recognises and measures revenue in accordance with 1AS 11 and 18 for the services it performs, if
more than one service (ie construction or upgrade services and operation services) is performed under a singie
contract or arrangement, consideration received or receivable is aillocated by reference to the relative fair values
of the services delivered, when the amounts are separately identifiable. The nature of the consideration
determines its subsequent accounting treatment.

The subsequent accounting for consideration received as a financial asset and as an intangible asset is detailed
as follows:

If the Group provides construction or upgrade services the consideration received or receivable by the Group is
recognised at its fair value. The consideration may be rights to;

{a) afinancial asset, or

{b}  anintangible asset.

The Group recognises a financial asset to the extent that it has an unconditional contractual right fo receive cash
or another financial asset from or at the direction of the grantor for the construction services; the grantor has little,
if any, discretion to avoid payment, usually because the agreement is enforceable by law. The Group has an
unconditional right to receive cash if the granior contractually guarantees to pay the operator (@) specified or
determinable amounts or (b) the shortfall, if any, between amounts received from users of the public service and
specified or determinable amounts, even if payment is contingent on the Group ensuring that the infrastructure
meets specified quality or efficiency requirements.

The Group recognises an intangible asset to the extent that it receives a right (a licence) to charge users of the
public service. A right to charge users of the public service is not an unconditional right to receive cash because
the amounis are contingent on the extent that the public uses the service.

If the Group is paid for the construction services partly by a financial asset and partly by an intangible asset it is
necessary to account separately for each component of the operator's consideration. The consideration received
or receivable for both components is recognised initially at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivabie.

The nature of the consideration given atiributable to the arrangement are capitalised during the construction
phase of the arrangement.

For identification purposes cnly
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NOTE 6 SEGMENT INFORMATION

for the financial years ended June 38, in thousands of kroons

6.1 Primary segment format - business segments

Consolidated Annual Report 2007/2008

Translation of the Estonian Original

For the purpose of segment information, the confectionery, pastries and dairy products as well as real esiate, media, printing
services and event marketing are cleariy distinguishable as segments.

Confectionery

. Dairy Real . Printing Event
2008 {except Pastries Media . ; Total
pastries) products estate services marketing

Ravernug from exiernal tlients:

- net sales 430 388 88 707 277 704 415 204 291591 108 453 5354 1348308

- other operaling income 835 173 836 61 928 184 288 0 64 244
Total segment revenue 431 223 89 880 278 537 477 132 29775 108 741 5354 1412642
Segment result 64 735 4697 10 354 53877 588671 5482 -2 319 78 155
Uindivided other income 142 563
Unallocated expenses -70 062
Operating profit 150 655
Pretax profit 98 375
Income {ax -431
Net financial items -52 280
Met profit for the financial year 97 944
Segment assets 465 138 48 879 155 421 873 125 28 739 0 185 1571487
Unallocated assets 238 865
Total assets 1810 352
Segment habilities 231213 16 929 71 948 855 326 23379 g 1231 10600026
Unallocated liabifities 338 934
Total Habilities 1338 960
Segment capital expendifures for non-
current assets 40 882 3642 5777 87 539 3 318 7703 o] 148 859
Unzallocated capital expenditures for non-
current assefs 25 545
Total expenditures for non-current
assets 174 404
Segment depreciation and amortization ~10 485 -4 358 -14 494 -178 429 -8 807 -5 -38 834
Depreciation and amortization of
unaliocated assets -12 578
Total depreciation, amortization and
impairment of assets 51 412
Cther non-monetary expenses of
segments (alfowances, provisions etc.) 11128 317 905 o 803 0 0 12 954

Transfer prices between business segments are set on arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.
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Confactionery " Dairy Real " Printing Event
2007 {except pasiries) Pastries products estate Media services marketing Total
Revenue from external clients:
- net sales 386 065 96 292 299 560 78 589 10 207 52 542 2 449 925 704
- other operating income 3671 48 8328 93 974 9 682 o 106 732
Revenue from other segments 0 0 0 8 541 0 0 ¢ B 54t
Total segment revenue 389 736 96 360 367 888 181 104 10 216 53 224 2449 1040 877
Segment result 29 694 =791 10 825 81 846 -3 819 3879 -826 120 808
Unaliocated expenses -51 8§12
Operating profit £8 996
Net financial tems -38 288
Pretax profit 30 708
income tax -282
Met profit for the financial year 30 426
Segment assets 359 753 51998 140 384 531 090 23754 172 553 399 1278931
Unailocated assets 32 572
Total assets 1312 503
Segment liabilities 279 455 17 808 123712 225072 4828 100 208 970 752 051
Unallocated liabilitles 187 003
Total liabilities 839 054
Segment capital expenditures for non-
current assets 28818 6 501 7524 25823 19730 137 743 ] 225 939
Unallocated capital expenditures for
non-current assets 13 124
Total expenditures for non-current
assets 238 063
Segment depreciation and amortization -8 155 -3 141 217 -1568 -78 -3 592 & -7 237
impairment of assets -500 -5G0
Depreciation and amertization of
unatiocaled assets -7 002
Total depreciation, amortization and
impairment of assets -24 739
Other non-monetary expenses of
segments (allowances, provisions eic.} 8 387 213 4 550 122 1315 0 4] 14 507
5.2 Secondary segment format — geographical segments
Sales:
2008 2007
- Estonsia
1047 719 591736
- Latvia and Lithuania
472 685 21 074
- Scandinavia
30335 20 781
- Dther EU countries
200783 261 800
- Others
26 895 30 333
Total
1 348 398 925 704

Division to geagraphical segments is based on the location of the Group’s customers. Al significant assets of the Group are
For :dem:ﬁmf:on purpases anly

located in Estonia.
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6.3 Sales according to EMTAK classification

EMTAK code MNACE code Field of activity 2008 2007

1082 C.10.8.2 Manufacture of cocoa, chocolate and sugar confectionary 430 388 386 065

1071 C.10.71 Manufacture of bread; manufaciure of fresh pasty goods and cakes 89 707 96 292

1051 C.10.51 Operation of dairies and cheese making 277 701 299 560

6810,6982 (.68.1.0,£.68.2.0 Real estate activities 415 204 78 589

5814 J.581.4 Publishing of journals and periodicals 19 651 10 207

6020 46020 Television programming and broadcasting activities 1840 0

94895 50329 Other amusement and recreation activities 5 354 2 449

18122 C.18.1.2 Printing of periodicals, promotion materials etc. 108 453 52 b42

TOTAL 1348 398 825 704
NOTE Y COSYT OF SALES, MARKETING EXPENSES AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

for the financial years ended June 30, in thousands of kroons

2008 2007
Cost of materials and goods {incl. scld property recognised under inventory) -504 331 571783
Personnel expenses <105 420 -62 846
Depreciation {(Note 16, 17) -37 427 -16 701
Expenses related to transpost -7 810 -8 541
Mainienance and rent of buildings and equipment -33 060G -26 147
Electricity, water, heat -28 842 -32770
Other expenses -8 038 -14 447
Total cost of sales -1 125 828 -734 235
Personnel expenses -41 248 -36 083
Depreciation (Note 16, 17) -4 506 -4 278
Expenses related to transport -37 693 -22 922
Advertising expenses -36 195 -28 353
Research and development expenses -5 328 -4 400
Fees for consultations -4 560 -4 232
Maintenance and rent of premises -5 637 -3 855
Other expenses -9 711 -13 551
Total marketing expenses -144 878 -117 675
Personnel expenses -31 087 -25 281
Degpreciation, amortization (Notes 16, 17) -5 388 -3260
Expenses related to transport -7 469 -6 078
Maintenance and rent of rooms -26 131 -5 907
Legal service expense -1170 -7 478
Fees for consultations -11 650 -19 595
Other services bought in -10 224 -603
Other expenses -23 088 -18 014
Total administrative expenses -116 207 -87 221

Abovementioned personnei expenses are divided as follows:

Salary and wages -134 045 92 875
Social taxes -43 710 -30 53§
Total personiel expenses -177 785 -123 214

_For identification purposes only
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tn the reporting period, the average number of employees of the Group amounted to 1,184 (2006/2007: 879).
Compensation for lay-offs and employment termination was paid to 58 employees (2006/2007: 15} in the total
amount of 1,318 thousand EEK (2006/2007: 664 thousand EEK).

NOTES OTHER OPERATING ITEMS

for the financial years ended June 30, in thousands of kroons

2008 2007
Gain from disposals of property, plant and equipment 4 867 8125
Gain from the revaluation of investment properties (Note 15) 33 850 90 486
Gain from sales of investment properties 10195 5 001
Government grants ’ ] 685
Other operating income : 157 896 2434
Total other operating income 206 808 106 732
Loss from disposals of property, plant and equipment -1 3685 -136
Impairment of inventories (Note 14) 2 -1 887 -337
Impairment of receivables {Note 12) -6 024 -G 708
Fines for delay and penalties -2 407 -4 492
Net foreign exchange losses -439 -367
Impairment of geodwill (Note 17) -4 091 -4 550
Other operating expenses -1 224 -4 719
Total other operating expenses -17 537 -24 3098
Total other operating items 189 270 §2422

"The subsidy was received regarding sales of dairy product and sugar outside of the European Union.

 Amount of the impairment also includes inventories in the amount of 337 thousand EEK that were expensed directly (i.e. these
inventories were written off from balance sheet without prior aliowance recognition) (2007 287 thousand EEK).

* Other income in 2008 consists of the following items:

Fines and compensations from Alta 142 274
Fine for canceliation of a contract 7 000
Other 8622
Total other operating income 157 896

Fines and compensatsions from Alta are related with the breach of agreement concluded between AS Kalev and Alta. See also
Note 28.13.

. Foridentification purposes only
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NOTE @ FINANCIAL [TEMS

for the financial years ended June 30, in thousands of kroons

Interest income
Other financial income

Total financial income

Net foreign exchange losses
Interest expenses

Other financiai expenses

Total financial expenses

Total financial items

NOTE 10

Net profit {loss) attributable to the shareholders of the Parent
The weighted average number of shares in the period {in thousands)

Earning per share

EARNINGS PER SHARE

for the financial years ended June 30, in thousands of kroons

Consolidated Annual Report 2007/2008
Translation of the Estonian Original

2008 2007
14 680 4 263
488 11

15 168 4 274
-733 -142
-63 577 -41 378
-3 098 -1045
-67 448 -42 562
-52 280 -38 288
2008 2007
97 939 30 460
23633 23633
4.14 1.28

As the Group does not have any potential ordinary shares the difuted earnings per share are equatl io basic eamings per share,

Further information on the number of shares is presented in Note 20.

NOTE 11 RECEIVABLES

as of June 30, in thousands of kroons

11.%1 Short-term receivables

Short-term receivables

Trade accounts receivable
Short-term loans '

Other receivables *

Accrued income

VAT prepayment

Allowance for receivables (Note 12)

Total short-term receivables

'The Group has granted shor-term loans withoui collaterals

(2007: 6%).

2008 2007
62 896 78 432
38955 54 690
60 894 439

2571 4084
6079 18010
-716 -7 605
170 678 148 050

with an average effective interest

? Other receivables are connected with other income in 2008 see Note 8 for further infarmation,

52

For ideriification purptses only

rate of 8%

E FrrsT &YOUN

CL APV



AS Kalev Consoclidated Annual Report 2007/2008
Transiation of the Estonian Criginal

11.2 Long-term receivables

2008 2007
Long-term investments 3478 3 564
l.ong-term loans given g 40
Other receivables’ 379187 a
Total long-term receivables 382 673 3604

' Other receivable are connected with the schools' renovation preject, see Note 27 for futher information.

NOTE 12 ALLOWANCE FOR RECEIVABLES

as of June 30, in thousands of kroons

2008 2007
Allowance for receivables at the beginning of period -7 605 -1 572
Additional allowance -317 -7 570
Derecognition of impaired receivables 7 206 1637
Total allowance for receivables -716 -7 605

During the reporting period the receivables of the Group have been considered as uncollectibie receivabies in the amount of
5,707 thousand EEK {2007: 2,138 thousand EEK), i.e. these receivables were written off from balance sheet without prior
allowance recognition,

Expenses from allowance for doubtful receivables and write-off of uncollectible receivables and reversal of allowances recorded
previously are presented under "other operating items” in income statement,

The aging of receivables is presented below:

Past due but not impaired

Neither past due up to 3 up to 8 up to 12 over 12
nor impaired months months manths maonths Total
2008 530 398 4 539 275 955 5775 541 942
2007 103 259 14 844 g 915 5573 0 133 601

In 2008, there were approximately 6 million EEK of receivables overdue more than one year that had not been provided for.
According to the Management of AS Kalev, these receivables are collectible. By the date of issuing the annual report
approximately 4 million of these receivables have been collected.

NOTE 13 INVENTORIES

as of June 30, in thousands of kroons

2008 2007
Raw materials 24 359 K
Work-in-progress 2753 2405
Finished products 13 866 35 250
Real estate for sale * 147 883 139 132
Goods purchased for resale 2643 4 257
Allowance for inventories (Note 14} 0 -50
Prepayments to suppliers 438 853
Total inventories 191 952 218 817

Eor identification pumposes only
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As of June 30, 2008, real estate for sale includes pusrchased land for resaje purpose in 82,425 thousand EEK (2007:
82,282 thousand EEK) and on balance sheet date real estate projects in the development process in the amount of 64,531
thousand EEK (2007: 56,850 thousand EEK). After the balance sheet date 82,425 thousand EEK of inventories have been
realized.

NOTE 14 ALLOWANCE FOR INVENTORIES

For the financial years ended June 30, in thousands of kroons

2608 2007
Alowance at the beginning of the period -50 -2 208
Allowence written off from balance sheet 50 2208
Additional allowance 4 -50
Allowance at the end of the period -50

As of June 30, 2008 the Group has provided no aliowance for inventories (2007: 50 thousand EEK). The book value (i.e. net
realizable value} of inventories, for which the szllowance has been provided for, is 0 EEK as of June 30, 2008 {2007: 50
thousand EEK).

Inventory allowance is presented under “other operating items”. {Note 8)

NOTE 15 INVESTMENT PROPERTY
in thousands of kroons
Investment
properties, excl, Prepayments for
prepayments invesiments Total

Book value June 30, 2006 89 944 0 89 944
Acquisitions 25 031 725 25758
Reclassification from property, pfant and equipment 19 009 ¢l 18 009
Reciassification to property, plant and equipment -2 456 -2 456
Disposals -8 138 -8138
Change in fair value — recorded in income statement 90 486 0 S0 486
Book vatue June 306, 2007 213 876 725 214 601
Acquisitions 69 460 18 078 87 539
Reclassification 15 400 -15 400 0
Change in fair value — recorded in income statement 33 850 0 33 850
Book value June 30, 2008 332 586 3404 335 990

In the reporting pericd, the Group earned rental income from invesiment properiies in the total amount of

7,510 thousand EEK and received no gain from disposals {2007: 4,625 thousand EEK and 5,001 thousand EEK, respectively}.
All investments are measured at fair value in the balance sheet, Fair value is based on both values defermined by independent
valuers and intragroup real estate exparts {mostly based on the discounted cash flow method based on the market yield}. As of
June 30, 2008, the carrying amount of investment property whose fair vaiue has not been detemmined by an independent valuer
amounts to 321,853 thousand EEK {2007: 208,750 thousand EEK).
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NOTE 16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPEMENT

as of June 30, in thousands of kroons

Book value as of June 30, 2006
Acquisitions from business combination
(Note 21)

Other acquisitions
Disposais

Reciassifications

Reclassifications from investment properties
(Noie 15)

Reciassifications to investment properties
(Note 15)

Impairment loss

Depreciation charge

Book value as of June 30, 2007
Acquisitions

Disposals

Reclassifications

Other movements (Noie 21}
Depreciation charge

Book value as of June 30, 2008

Cost / revaiued amount as of June 30, 2005
Accumulated depreciation as of June 30,
2006

Cost/ revalued amount as of June 30, 2607
Accumulated depreciation as of June 30,
2007

Cost / revalued amount as of June 30, 2008
Accumulated depreciation as of June 30,
2008

Cost of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment as of June 30

Machinery and CGther
Land  Buildings nery , cip* Totai
equipment itemns

13 111 348 362 84 315 8 005 82 047 545 840
828 21 87 413 1369 h3 89 684
121 19 370 18 229 2 848 20 386 60 864
-2 552 Q -575 -180 -7 047 -10 354
G 154 21 544 2 580 -24 288 0
0 2 456 0 0 0 2 458
0 -19 009 0 0 0 -18 009
0 -500 0 0 0 -500
0 -11 010 -10 276 -2 819 0 -24 205
11 508 339 844 200 650 11713 81 161 644 876
0 2242 18 808 19 230 44 384 84 664
¢} -18 689 -941 -216 -1 890 -21 736
1178 10 788 27 335 11188 -5C 458 0]
G 0 -88 275 -338 0 -88 613
4 -9 488 -20 971 -5 425 -11 282 -47 167
12 687 324 699 136 603 36 120 61 915 572024
13111 348 362 166 570 18 133 92 282 638 458
0 0 -82 255 -10 128 -235 -92 618
11 568 350163 324 572 19 849 81 160 787 252
0] -10 319 -123 922 -8 135 0 -142 376
12 687 340 813 225 946 45 134 73 197 697 777
0 -18 114 -87 343 9014 -11 282 -125 753

2008 2007
Machinery and equipment 11292 12 297
Other items 1286 2767
Buildings 58 224
Totat 12 578 165 064

There has been no revaluation of land and buildings carried out during the reporting financial year. The latest revaluation was
performed on June 30, 2006. Revaluations before that were carried out as of June 3G, 2002 and 2003. In order to estimate the
fair vaiue of buildings the discounted cash flow method and amoriized replacement cost method were used and prices of

comparabie transactions were used for determining the fair value of land.

The carring amounts of iand and buildings that wouid have been recognised had the assets been carried under the cost model
are 13,880 thousand EEK and 228,454 thousand EEK for buildings (2007; 12,700 thousand EEK and 237,804 thousand EEK).
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*Gonstruction in process (CIP) of the Group includes uninstalled equipment or eguipment currently under installation and
prepayments for property, plan{ and equipment (as of June 30, 2008: 72,819 thousand EEK and 278 thousand EEK and 2007;
77,853 thousand EEK and 3,307 thousand EEK, respectively is amortized).

Depreciation charge has been recognised as foliows: -37 427 thousand EEK (2007: -16,701 thousand EEK) as cost of sales, -
4,506 thousand EEK (2007: -4,278 thousand EEK) as marketing expenses, and -5,388 thousand EEK (20607: -3,226 thousand

EEK as administrative expenses.

NOTE 17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

as of June 30, in thousands of kroons

Goodwill Other intangible Total
assets
Book value as of June 30, 2006 4 550 10 4 560
Acquisitions from business combination {Note 21) 82 459 200 62 65
impairment of positive goodwill -4 850 0 -4 550
Amortisation charge ¢ -34 -34
Book value as of June 30, 2007 62 45% 176 62 635
Acquisitions o] 2 201 2201
impairment 0 -400 -400
Acquisitions from business combination {Note 21) 4 094 0 4 081
Impairment of positive goodwill (Note 8} -4 091 0 -4 081
Other movements (Note 21) -43 361 -160 -43 521
Amorttisation charge 0 -154 -154
Book value as of June 30, 2008 19 098 1663 20 761
Cost as of June 30, 2006 4 550 359 4 909
Accumulated amortisation G -359 =359
Cost as of June 30, 2007 62 458 559 83 018
Accumuiated amortisation G -383 -383
Cost as of June 30, 2008 19 068 1926 21024
Accumulated amonrtisation 0 -264 ~264

Reporiing period amortisation charge has been recognised only on administrative expenses for the total of
-154 thousand EEK (2007 -34 thousand EEK).

Outstanding goodwill balance as of June 30, 2008 originates from acquisitions of AS Inreko Press, OU Olliwood and AS
Eksklusiiv. Goodwill was tested against the impairment at year-end. The recoverable amount has been determined based on
vaiue in use, determined on cash flow proiections for three to five years. Long term growth rate of 2% was used and discount
factor of 9% was appiied. In all cases the present value of cash flows was found 10 exceed the hook value of subsidiary's net
assels and goodwill. A 1% change in the terminal value growth rate would change the recoverable vaiue by 10% and a 1%
change in the discount rate would change the recoverable value by 15%. Change in the expected lifetime of the asset by cne
year would affect the recoverable value by 12%.

In the previous period, impairment loss of positive goodwill in the amount of 4,550 thousand EEK was recognised. The goodwill
resulted from the purchase of shares of Valmetek Invest AS. It was considered to be impaired, as Valmetek invest AS has not
yel commenced its economic activities and according to the Group's management estimates, there are no signs that the present
value of net fufure cash flows could cover the book value of subsidiary’s net assets and goodwill.

For goodwill related with other subsidiares, the value in use was determined on cash flow projections for three to five years.

Long term growth rate of 6% was used in order to balance somehow more aggressive increase in the short term and discount
For identification purpases oily
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factor in the range of 15-20% was applied. The present value of cash flows was found to exceed the book valug of subsidiary’s
net assets and goodwill.

NOTE 18 BORROWINGS

as of June 30, in thousands of kroons

Non-
Current current Total
2008 portion portion borrowings Interest rates Due dates
Overdraft 18 658 0 19 658 8 month EURIBOR+1.5% 2008-2009
Bonds 184 571 80 826 245 197 12.0% 2008-2009
Other loans 101 163 0 101 163 6-12% 2008-2008
Shart-term bank loans 300 177" 0 300177 6 month EURIBOR+1.5%, 6% 2008-2008
8 month EURIBOR+1.4%-

Long-ferm bank loans 81 562 227 559 309121 2.5% 2008-2016

6 month EURIBOR+0.95%-
Lease liabilities (Note 22} 8 938 31304 40 243 2% 2008-2015
Total borrowings 696 070 319 489 1015 559

'Subsequent to the balance sheet date, BCA Center and Hansapank concluded an amendment to the lcan agreement,
according to which the due date for the loan repayment was changed to 30 September 2009. See aiso Note 18.1.

Non-
Current current Total
2007 portion portion borrowings inierest rates Due dates
Overdraft 16 961 0 16 881 6 month EURIBOR+5.3%
Bonds 167 558 0 167 558 10.0%
Other loans 62 0 62 10.0%
Shori-term bank loans 84 997 0 84 897 6 month EURIBOR+2.2% 2007-2008
6 month EURIBOR+1.4%-
tong-term bank loans 54 333 230629 284 962 5.3% 2008-2016
t ease liabilities (Note 22) 24 407 74 208 98 615 5.37-5.923% 2008-2014
Total borrowings 348 317 304 837 653 154

Certain leases have an interest rafe refated to Euribor (plus 2-3,25%) and others have a fixed interest rate (6-10%;.
All ipans have been denominated in EEK or EUR. See Note 23 for information on piedged assets.

18.1.  OU BCA Center concluded a mortgage and loan agreement

On July 06, 2007, OU BCA Center, the subsidiary of AS Kalev Real Estate Company, concluded an agreement according to
which joint mortgage in favour of AS Hansapank is placed on the right of superficies that is belonging to the subsidiary. OU BCA
Center is the owner of the right of superficies on the following real estate objects belenging to Tallinn clty: Kopli str 92, Gisméae
road 132, Kivimurru str 8, Raudtee str 73 ja Parmu road 71/73. The rights of superficies of these real estate cbjects were granted
for the purpose of public-private parinership project for schools in Taltinn,

The mortigage mentionad above secures the receivables of AS Hansapank against OU BCA Center rising from a loan
agreement concluded between the parties. According to the loan agreement, OU BCA Center is granted a loan limit of 23,227
thousand euros. Loan is remitied in porfions according to the loanee’s application and the loan limit is available until December
31, 2008, Until the due date, fee in the amount of 0.5% pa on the unused loan limit is paid by the loanee. The initiat loan
repayment date was 30 April 2009, but subsequent fo the balance sheet date the loan repayment was changed to 30
September 2009. Interest rate on the loan is Euribor+1.6% pa. Interest period is 1 month and payments are made monthly
according to the payment schedule.

According to the ioan agreement, OU BCA Center is entitled to cancel the unused loan limit or a partiat amount of it and repay
the loan or a partial amount of it before the repayment due date. The purpose of the loan is to finance the renovation works
undertaken in connection with the public-private parinership project for schools in Tallinn. After the renovation works have been

i FOF _‘_"ﬁf?f?ffﬁ?@?’.‘??_”?_Pfﬁ’fv’.‘?s‘f‘.ﬁ‘?_.‘??’fy
7 Elf FRIST & YOUNG

.

AW R r



AS Kalev Consolidated Annual Report 2607/2008
Translation of the Estonian Original

completed and lease payments from Taltinn city have commenced towards the end of 2008, the loan is to be refinanced with a
long-term loan.

By the date of preparing the annual report, ownership in OU BCA Center has been disposed of {Note 28.5)

18.2.  Loan agreement concluded by AS Kalev Paide Teotmine

On July 27, 2007 AS Kalev Paide Tootming concluded a ioan agreement with AS Mansapank. According to the loan agreement,
AS Kalev Paide Teotmine is granted s loan limit of 2,556 thousand euros for the purpose of financing its working capital. The
due date for withdrawing the loan was August 26, 2007. Interest and principal foan payments wili e made on a monthly basis,
Intesest rate on the loan is Euribor+2.5% According to the payment schedule the loan repayments were set as annual
instalments until Aprit 30, 2008. in May 2008 the outsianding loan ameunt 10,000 thousand EEK (638,116 euros) was extended
until August 30, 2008. The loan has been repaid by the date of preparing the annual report.

18.3. Loan agreement concluded by AS Kalev Real Estate Company

Al the end of January, 2008 AS Kalev Real Istate Company (hereafter Kailev REC) acquired a tenement in Tallinn, Kinga street
1. The total purchase price of tenement is 77 million EEK. The transaction was partiaily financed by debting 3,226,739 euros
(50.5 milion £EK) from AS Hansapank. The due date of the loan in amount of 989,831 euros was April 18, 2608 (with a fixed
interest rate 14.5% pa) and the due date of the loan in amount of 2,238,908 euros is January 18, 2010 {(with interest rate of 6
months EURIBOR + 2.0%).

On the tenement AS Kaiev REC has set joint mortgage in favour of AS Hansapank in amount of 42 million EEK and 18.6 million
EEK.

18.4. The emission of bonds

On September 18, 2007 AS Kalev Real Estate Company issued bonds by private placement and with maturity period of 2 years.
The initial volume of emission was 2,983 million euros, which was later increased by 958 thousand euros. The total volume of
emission exceeded 3.9 million eurcs. Bond's nominal vaiue is 1 thousand euros with an annual coupon of 12% and coupon
payments take place quarterly. Bonds can be recalled by the issuer or sold by the investor on each coupon day. Bonds are
warranted by AS Kalev and the emission was facilitated by SEB Eesti Uhispank.

On December 20, 2007 AS Kalev Real Estate Company issued bonds by directed emission in the total volume of 4.5 million
euros with maturity period of 6 months. Bond’s nominal value is 1 thousand euros with and annual coupon of 12% (coupon
payment takes place on maturity date). Bonds are warranted by AS Kalev and the emission was facilitated by SEB Eesti
Uhispank.

QOn February 28, 2008 AS Kalev issued short-term bonds by direcied emission in the total volume of 6.88 miflion euros (107.7
riltion EEK); with maturity date August 28, 2008. Bond's nominat value is 1,000 thousand euros with an annual interest rate of
12%. The emission was facilitated by SEB Eesti Uhispank. Bonds issued by emission are warranted with the shares of issuer's
subsidiary - AS Kalev REC. Additicnal finances from the issue of bonds are used by AS Kalev to redeem previous bonds.

On June 20, 2008, AS Kalev Real Estate Company issued bonds by directed emission with maturity pericd of 3 months (bond
redemption date September 26, 2008). The nominal vaiue of issued bonds were 1 thousand euros in the total volume of 4.8
million euros (75.9 million EEK); annual interest rate is 12%. The volume of bidding, which exceeded the volume of emission
almost twice, described inierest of investors, who noted the bonds. The emission was facilitated and obligations from the
emission are warranted by AS Kalev. The purpose of this emission is redemption of bonds issued by AS Kalev Real Estate
Company in 2007. The bonds have been redeemed by the date of preparing the annuai report.
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NOTE 18 PAYABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

as of June 30, in thousands of kroans

Trade accounts payable
Taxes payable *
Payabies to employees
Other payables '

Total

Consolidated Annual Report 2007/2008
Translation of the Estonian Criginal

2008 2007
180 796 156 929
18 766 12 451
11 050 9903
94 196 105 151
304 817 284 439

! Other payables as of 30 June 2008 are mostly related with liabilities arising from buying option of the shares of Valmetek
invest AS (please refer to Note 21.5) and Aita’s claim guarantee in the amount of 59,825 thousand EEK (please refer to Note 8).

2 the balance of taxes payable inciudes the following taxes:

Social tax

Personal income tax
VAT

Other taxes

Total

Customer prepayments
Prepayments received for real estate
Prepayment received for magazins
Other prepayments

Total

NOTE 20 EQUITY

2008 2007
7927 6363
4 307 3 697
5321 1506
1211 998
18 766 12 451
2008 2007
16 858 280
1367 4]
358 1181

18 584 1461

The share capital of AS Kalev consists of 23,632,500 ordinary shares with nominal value of 10 EEK per share.
There were no changes in the share capital of the AS Kalev in 2006/2007 and also in 2007/2008. Accarding to the Articles of

Association of the Parent the maximum number of authorized ordinary shares is 31,51¢,000.
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NOTE 21

21.1.

Business combinations

Consolidated Annual Report 2007/2008
Translation of the Estonian Original

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSCCIATES

As of June 30, AS Kalev holds a stake in the following subsidiaries and associates:

Participation %

Participation %

Eniity Couniry Fieid of activity 2008 2007
AS Kalev REC Estonia teal estate development and management 100% 100%
real estate consulting
Siude REC EOCD Bulgaria real estate rental, purchase and sale 100% 100%
OU BCA Center Estonia real estate development and management 100% 1060%
0U BCA Kinnisvara  Estonia real estate development and management 100% 100%
Ringi Halduse 00 £stonia real estate development and management 49% 49%
Kalev Merchant Services Ltd USA promotion and sale of A Kalev's products in USA  100% 100%
AS Kalev Paide Tootmine Estonia dairy producis production and sale 100% 100%
AS Vaimetek Invest  Estonia cheese production 86.7% 65.6%
production of flour confectionery and pastry
AS Kaiev Johvi Tootmine £stonia producis 98.10% 99.10%
production of flour confectionery and pastry
AS Vilma Estonia products 100% 100%
AS Kalev Chocolate Factory  Estonia production of sugar confectionery products 100% 100%
Ol Maiasmokk Estonia production and sale of pastry products 86.40% 81.30%
OU Sugarstar Estonia event organisation 100% 160%
AS Inreko Press Estonia magazine publication 100% 100%
OU Olliwood Estonia magazine publication 100% 100%
AS Kalev Meedia Estonia magazine publication 100% 100%
) production and broadcasting of entertainment
QU Eesti Spordikanal Estonia shows 100% 100%
AS Eksklusiiv Estonia magazine publication 100% 166%
AS Uniprint ' Estonia printing 40% 40%
AS Unipress Estonia printing 40% 40%
00U AgriStock Estonia processing of grain products 100% 0%

" In 2607, Uniprint was accounted for as a subsidiary since according to shareholders' agreement, Kalev was antitled to acquire
all shares in Uniprint by 2009 the latest. This option has not be used by the date of writing the annual report.

21.2.  Increase in the share capital of AS Kalev Chocolate Factory

On 26 June 2007, AS Kalev resolved to increase the share capital of its subsidiary AS Kalev Chocolate Factory by 47,356,340
EEK, issuing 4,735,634 new registered shares with & nominal value of 10 EEK per share. The new shares were acquired by AS
Kalev. The shares were paid for by offsetting a 47,356,340 EEK receivable from the subsidiary. The entry on the increase of the
share capital was made in the commercial register on 5 July 2007. AS Kalev Chocolate Factery's share capital amounts to
138,353,340 EEK after the transaction,
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21.3.  Acquisition of OU Soltari Invest. Share capital increase and name change

AS Kalev acquired a share with a nominal value of 46 thousand EEK in the private limited company Soitari Invest under the
contract conciuded on 17 August 2007. With the {ransaction, AS Kalev became the sole shareholder of the private limited

company.
On 22 August 2007, AS Kalev resolved to increase the share capital of OU Seltar Invest by making a monetary contribution of
80 thousand EEK. The share capital of the subsidiary now amounts to 120 thousand EEK. AS Kalev also paid 1,620 thousand
EEK in share premium. In addition, AS Kalev resolved to rename the private limited company AgriStock OU.

The subsidiary AgriStock OU is invoived with the development of the processing of, storage of and reioading of grain products.

The fair value of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of O Agristock was equal their book vaiue and is presented in the
table below (in thousands of kroons):

00 Agristock

Current assets 33803
Non-current assets -
Liabilities - 37 854
MNet assets - 4 051
Cost value 40
AS Kalev ownership in

equity - 4 051
Goodwill 4091

Resuiting goodwill was expensed during the financial period since the initial plans related to the subsidiary did not realize.

214. Increase in the share capital of the subsidiary Ol Maiasmokk, and transfer of a share in the
company

With the resolution of 6 November 2007, the shareholders of OU Maiasmokk increased the share capital of the subsidiary by
30 thousand EEK. An entry was made on the increase of the share capital in the commercial register on 16 November 2007. OU
Maiasmokk's share capital now amounts to 120 thousand EEK. Under the resolution, the company issued one share with a
nominal value of 30 thousand EEK, and a share premium of 4,680 thousand EEK. The rights granted by the new share are the
same as those provided by other shares. The share was acquired by AS Kalev who made a monetary contribution of
4,710 thousand £EEK on 12 Novemnber 2007, The difference between the acquisition cost of minority interests and carrying value
of minority interests has been recognised directly in equity.

On 10 January 2008, AS Kalev transferred its share in the subsidiary OU Maiasmokk to its other subsidiary AS Kalev Chocofate
Factory. With the transaction, AS Kalev sold a share with a nominal value of 103,700 thousand EEK (i.e. 86.3% of the share
capital} to AS Kalev Chocolate Factory for a price of 103,700 thousand EEK.

21.5 The share of AS Kalev Paide Tootmine in AS Valmetek Invest

According fo Valmetek Invest AS shareholders agreament other investor's have the right to sell their shares of Valmetek Invest
AS to AS Kalev Paide Tooimine and AS Kalev Paide Tootming has an obligation to realize one of the two possible call options
after January 1, 2008;

i. Obligation to purchase Valmetek Invest AS shares with the price equal with Valmetek Invest AS fivefold EBITDA of
previous year (e.9. Valmetek Invest AS previous year's operating profit 1o which depreciation and amortisation wiil be
added), multiplied by investor's share in Valmetek Invest AS share capital. Participators will be informed about the
realization of the call option six manths in advance starting from July 1, 2007, Or;

ii. Obligation fo purchase Vaimetek invest AS shares with the price equal with another investor's investment in Valmetek
Invest AS share capital plus cumudative interest. Participators will be informed about the realization of the calt option
six months in advance starting from July 1, 2007.
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The specified mentionad contract gives to AS Kalev Paide Tootmine a right to purchase shares owned by other participanis,
whereby in case of the realization of the cail option, the subsidiary has a right to purchase corresponding investor's investment
in Valmetek Invest AS.

The price of the shares acguired by AS Kaiev Paide Tootmine will be determined by the choice of the selling investor, either
based on fixed vield or profitability based price model, Six month advance notice is applicable to the realization of the call
option.

On 11 Aprit 2007, AS Kalev Paide Tootmine acquired 22,065 shares of AS Valmetek Invest. As a result of the transaction, the
share of AS Kalev's subsidiary in AS Valmetek Invest was raised to 65.6%. Under the shareholders’ agreement, the other
investor's have the right to sell their shares of Valmetek Invest AS and AS Kalev Paide Tootmine is required to purchase the
remaining shares of AS Valmetek Invest from the other party from 1 January 2008 onwards. In 2008, AS Kalev Paide Tootmine
increased its participation in AS Valmetel Invest to 66.7%. For the remaining shares of Valmetek Invest AS he other investors
still have the right {0 sell and AS Kalev Paide Tootmine has the obligation to buy the shares.

21.6 Financial investment in AS Uniprint

Under the coniract concluded on 20 February 2007, AS Kalev acquired the right to increase its participation in AS Uniprint by
acquiring an 80% stake. Since AS Kalev had previously conciuded a contract on the acquisition of 20% of the shares of AS
Uniprint, AS Kalev would have become full owner of AS Uniprint after the transaction. AS Kaiev failed to make the payment for
the above shares within the established term. Consequently, as of 1 April 2008, AS Uniprint is treated as an associate.

NOTE 22 LEASES

as of June 30, in thousands of kroons

221 Finance leases — Group as a lessee

The future minimum lease payments under finance lease and the present value (PV) of the net minimum lease payments have
been presented below:

2008 2007

Minimum lease PV of lease Minimum lease PV of lease

payments payments payments payments

Within one year 11234 8 940 29 413 24 407
After 1 year, bui not more than 5 years 36 307 29632 79 244 71488
Qver 5 years 197 1772 2784 2720
Total minimum lease payments 49 312 40 244 111 441 98 615
Future financial charges -8 068 - -12 825 -
PV of minimum lease payments 40 244 40 244 898 615 98 615

In the financial year, the Group purchased machinery in the totai amount of 29,864 thousand EEK (2007: 18,812 thousand EEK)
under finance lease terms. See note 18 for futher information.
Book value of non-current assets purchased under finance iease terms as of June 3G

2008 2007
Investment properiies 11 400 1400
Land and buildings recorded under property, plant and equipment G 6737
Machinery and equipment 50 264 9% 020
Other items 101 66
Uninstailed items 8 058 8762
Total 69 823 125 985
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22.2 Operating leases — Group as a lessee

The Group has entered into operating lease agreement for renting cars, commercial vehicles and computers. These contracts
are canceilable without any additional payments.

In the reporting period the Group paid lease payments in the total amount of 11,882 thousand EEK (2007; 6,840 thousand
EEK).

22.3 Operating leases ~ the Group as a lessor

The Group ieases its investment properties out as office and other roems. As of June 30, 20808, the book value of leased assets
amournted to 102,275 thousand EEK (2007: 74,378 thousand EEK). The rental income for the reporting period amounted to
7,510 thousand EEK {2007: 4,62¢ thousand EEK).

As of June 30 there are no nen-cancellable operating lease agreements.

NOTE 23 PLEDGED ASSETS
as of June 30, in thousands of kroons

The following assets (in book value) have been pledged to secure the borrowings (except lease liabilities) of the Group:

2008 2007
Mortgage — real estate under inventories 82 000 82 282
Mortgage — real estate under property, plant and equipment 296 630 366 495
Mortgage — real estate under invesiment properties 387 559 30 879
Commercial pledge 90 650 241 375

AS Kaiev has issued 77 million EEK warranty for the bonds of AS Kalev REC.
The lease liabiliies have been secured by the asseis purchased under finance lease terms (Note 22.1).

NOTE 24 CONTINGENT AND OFF-BALANCE-SHEET LIABILITIES

24.1 Income tax on dividends

Retained earnings as of 30 June 2008 is 118,358 thousand EEK. The maximum possible income tax liahility related to the
payment of the company’s retained earnings as dividends is 24,855 thousand EEK. The maximum possible net dividends thus
amount to 93,504 theusand EEK. The maximum possible income tax lizbility has been calculated based on the assumption that
the net dividends to be paid and the related total income {ax expenses would not exceed the distributable profit as of the end of
the financial year.

24.2 Pending court cases of AS Kalev

24.2.1. AS Kalev vs AS Eiveso

On 7 December 2005, AS Kalev filed a claim against the Rae Municipality water undertaking AS Elveso in Harju County Court,
for performance of the contractual liabilities and ascertainment of the contractual right. AS Kalev asked the court to ascertain the
company's right to receive waste water disposal services from AS Elvesc under the prices established by Rae Municipality
Government, and to verify that AS Elveso has no right to block the plaintiffs waste water disposal without legal basis provided
by the regulation of the Rae Municipality Government and the contract.
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On 15 March 2007, Harju County Court ruled partially in favour of AS Kalev. Harju County Court ruled that AS Elveso had no
right to block AS Kalev's waste water disposai without legal basis provided by law and the Rae Municipality Council. The court
also ruled that AS Kalev had the right {0 receive waste water disposal services from AS Elveso only under the prices established
with the regulation of the Rae Municipality Government. The poliution charge demanded by AS Elveso has not been estabiished
pursuant to procedure. Therefore, there is no basis for demanding peilution charge from AS Kalev.

On 25 June 2007, the Taliinn Circuit Court passed a ruling, partially annulling the previous ruling of the Matju County Court. AS
Kalev filed an appeal with the Supreme Court.

On 4 October 2007, the Supreme Court refused to accept the claim of AS Kalev.

The court case revolved around a dispute concering the method of price calculation in the contested period. No proprietary
dispute was involved.

24.2.2 AS Elveso vs AS Kalev

in January 2008, Harju County Court accepted a claim filed by the Rae Municipaiity water undertaking AS Elveso against AS
Kalev. The plaintiff demands payment of the unpaid overpollution charge and a fine for delay in the tofal amount of 21.8 million
EEK. Haru County Court has established a judicial morigage on two registered immovables of AS Kalev as collateral to the
plaintiff's clain.

To all intents and purposes, the court case is a follow-up of the previous claims and court dispute initiated by AS Kalev due to
AS Elveso charging unjustifiably high waste water dispesal fees from AS Kalev.

AS Kalev has contested the claim, and has filed a petition for non-application of the local government regulations which form the
hasis for the water undertaking's claim, and initiation of constitutional review proceedings with respect to these regulations.

In a territory covered by public water supply and sewerage, the owner or administrator of the public water supply and sewerage
system (in Rae Municipality, AS Ejveso} must deveiop the system to such an extent as to allow wasie water disposal from all
registered immovables on the territory via the public sewerage system. AS Rae Municipality has failed to develop its treatment
facilities to the required capacity, AS Kaiev had o establish its own preliminary treatment facilities in order to avoid further waste
water disputes.

Neo ruling had been passed in the case by the fime of preparation of these financial statements.

24.2.3 Tax and Customs Board vs AS Kalev

On 17 June 2005, the Northern Regional Tax Centre of the Tax and Customs Board (hereinafter Northern RTC) passed a
resoiution on the ascertainment of carryover stock and excessive goods in stock. With the resolution, the Northern RTC obfiged
AS Kailev to eliminate from the market, by 20 November 2005, 15.6 thousand tons of excessive sugar stocks allegedly in the
company’s possession as of 1 May 2004.

AS Kalev contested the above resolution of the Northern RTC in the Tallinn Administrative Court on 15 July 2005,

The Tallinn Administrative Coust accepted the claim with the court ruling of 17 November 2005. The court aiso satisfied AS
Kalev's application for initial iegal protection and suspended the validity of the resolution of the Northern RTC until settlement of
the claim.

On 6 November 2006, the Neorthern Regionat Tax Centre of the Tax and Customs Board (hereinafter the Northern RTC) passed
a resoiution, annulling retroactively its resolution of 17 June 2005 regarding ascertainment of AS Kalev's carryover stock and
excessive goods in stock as of the moment of the issue of the resoclution. The Northern RTC found that the annulled resolution
had no iegai basis,

On 7 December 2006, the Tailinn Administrative Court terminated proceeding of the administrative case, ordering payment of
the court expenses of AS Kalev.

On 29 March 2007, the Northern RTC issued a tax notice, re-esiablishing AS Kalev's excessive sugar stocks at 15.6 thousand
EEK and imposing & surplus stock charge of 135.6 million EEX.
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AS Kalev filed a claim for annuiment of the Northern RTV tax notice from 289 March 2007, as well as & petition for suspension of
the execution of the tax notice.

With its rufing of 30 Aprit 2067, the Tallinn Administrative Court accepted the claim and suspended the execution of the Northern
RTC tax notice,

Cn 23 May 2007, the Tallinn Administrative Court partially satisfied the appeal filed by the Northern RTC against the ruling of
30 April 2007 which suspended the execution of the tax notice, and stipulated conditions under which execution of the tax notice
would continue to be suspended.

AS Kalev believes that the company correctly declared its sugar stock in accordance with the provisions of the Sumplus Stock
Charges Act (SSCA), and that, as of 1 May 2004, the company was not the owner or possessor of 15.6 thousand tons of sugar
stock assessed as surplus stock by the Northern RTC.

AS Kalev believes the claims made and conciusions drawn by the Northern RTC in the tax notice of 20 March 2007 to be
incorrect and unjustifiable, with the Nerthern RTC misintetpreting the provisions of substantive law, violating procedurai
provisions as well as general principies of the law.

According to the management of AS Kalev, the tax notice must therefore be annulled. The company has therefore recorded no
relevant provision in the balance sheet.

24.2.4 AS Léhmus, Haavel & Viisernann vs AS Kalev

In April 2007, AS Léhmus, Haavel & Viisemann filed a claim against AS Kalev for 2,500 thousand EEK. According to the
plaintiff, the defendant owes the above amount for the shares of AS Santenor. AS Kalev has not acquired any shares of AS
Santenor.

With its ruting of 19 December 2007, the Harju County Court confirmed the compromise solution agreed between the parties,
and terminated proceeding of the civil case. According to AS Kalev, the cour dispute had no financial effect on the company.

24.2.5 AS Kalev vs Financial Supervision Authority

Cn 15 January 2008, AS Kalev filed a claim with the Tallinn Administrative Court for annuiment of the Financial Supervision
Authority's confidential request of 15 January 2008 and the resolution of 29 January 2008. AS Kalev contested the
administrative acts, claiming these {o be unmotivated. it remained unclear for AS Kaiev which infermation was required for the
inspection of which circumstance, and who was being inspected. AS Kalev also claimed the information requested by the
Financial Supervision Autheority to be neither appropriate nor necessary, considering the purpose of the supervision
proceedings.

With its ruling of 20 June 2008, the Taiiinn Administrative Court dismissed the claim of AS Kalev. AS Kalev has appealed the
ruling with the Tallinn Circuit Court.

NOTE 25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

25.1 Credit risk

The Group manages credit risk by offering credit sales to its business partners depending on the length of the cooperation and
the background information of the company. The cooperation pariners in Russia and the CIS usually receive goods for an
advance payment. The credit risks of larger buyers are managed through letters of guarantee of the bank. The maximum credit
risk exposure of unwarranted receivables of the Group at the balance sheet date is 490,767 thousand EEK
(2007: 169,120 thousand EEK).
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262 interest rate risk

The long-ferm borrowings of the Group are mainly related to EURIBOR, therefore these are dependent on changes in
international financial markets. On regular basis, the Group compares the potential loss from interest rate fluctuations to costs
from using related risk management instruments, The Group did not use financial instruments to hedge interest rate risks during
the reporting period, as based on the Management's assessment, the cost of risk management would have exceeded the
potential loss arising from interest rate fluctuations.

Below, a summary of the Group's exposure to interest rate risk is presented as of June 30{in thousands of kroons):

2008 2007
<1 year 1.5 years Total <1 year 1-5 years Total

Fixed interest rate

Interest-bearing receivables 38 955 0 38 955 54 730 3 257 57 887
Interest-bearing liabilities -283 034 -60 6526 -343 660 -138 235 -73 735 -211 870
Net position -244 G679 -60 626 -304 705 -§3 505 -70 478 -153 983
Ficating interest rate

Interest-bearing liabilities -157 885 -514 014 -571 800 -210 082 231 102 -441 184
Wet position -157 885 -514 014 -671 800 -210 082 -231 102 -441 184

The division of interest-bearing receivables and fabifities between the groups of up to 1 year and 1-5 years is based on maturity
date in case of receivables and liabilities with fixed interest rates and re-pricing date in the case of floating inerest rate.

The Group estimates that a 1% change in interest rates would be reasonably possible. The sensitivity analysis of profit before
tax demonstrated that a 1 percentage point change (rise or decline) in interest rates would affect (increase or reduce) profit
hefore tax for 2008 by 8,473 thousand EEK (2007: 4,986 thousand EEK).

25.3 Currency risk

Most of the Group's contracts are related to kroons and eures in order to minimize exposure to currency risk. Similarly, the
Group has no significant foreign currency liabilities other than Euro-based. All material iong-term loan agreements are aiso
concluded in euro, therefore these are considered as risk-free liabilties from currency risk perspective. Considering afl this, the
Group's exposure to currency risk is assessed to be minimal.

254 Liquidity risk
in the opinion of the management there is no liquidity issue in the Group since:

o the Group has several assets, which can be realized, if necessary (incl. food production companies);

® if necessary, the Group has an opportunity o receive additionat finances from the issue of bonds, ie., after
redemption of current bonds, new honds can be issued {(which has been done subseguent to the balance sheet date,
see Note 28.12). The previous bond issue was subscribed in excess and the same sifuation is expected also for new
issuance, resuited in the better price of bonds for AS Kalev;

s subsequent to the disposal of the shares in subsidiary OU BCA (Note 28.5), the liabilities of Kalev Group decreased;

e expansion in dairy business segment {Note 28). The revenue and EBITDA of additiona! business in 2007 calendar
year was 1,994 597 thousand EEK and 216,784 thousand EEK respectively;

s AS Kalev and is subsidiaries have in the past had continually reliable suppert of the financial sector, which helps the
Group in its liguidity management and development processes — prior experiences have shown that,
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e If necessary, it is possible to get additional financial resources with favourable interest rate;
s if necessary, it is possible to renew or refinance existing borrowings.
it wouid aiso be possible to obtain additional financing by sefting a morigage on the real estate owned by the group or pledging

the brand "Kalev” and shares of AS Kalev subsidiaries.

Based on due dates and contractual undiscounted payments, the Group's borrowings can be divided as foliows:

<3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years >5 years Total
As of June 30, 2008
Borrowings 192 233 285 934 565 316 82 653 1126 137
Trade accounts payabie and
other payables 215 866 29 126 9 0 244 902
Total 408 099 315 061 565 316 82 653 1371129
As of June 30, 2007
Borrowings 52 938 327 745 276 868 105 804 763 354
Trade accounts payable and
other payables 210 056 74 383 0 0 284 439
Total 262994 402 128 276 868 105 804 1 047 793

25.5 Fair value

In the opinion of the Group’s management there are no significant differences between the carrying value and the fair vaiue of
financial assets and liabilities, Fair value has been deiermined based of the discounied cash flow method.

25.6 Capital management

Capital risk management is based on the principle of cost effective system s¢ as to minimize risk cccurring from core activities.
As all risks related to business growth can not be covered due to practical and monetary restrictions, then preventive risk
management system s used. To assure continuing risk management according to an overall, yet simple scheme, equity ratio
has been kept on at least 25%. As at June 30, 2007 and June 30, 2008 the aforesaid ratio has been accordingly 28.5% and
28.8% - which is {o some exient higher than the minimum standard set.

Decision about dividend payments is very important for the Group, as i may have an effect on the capital structure and share
price. Company's strategy deveiopments, shareholders interest and other factors have to be considered 16 make the decision
about dividend payments. Taking into consideration that AS Kalev is entering into new business activities as well as potential
extension of current segments, it has been proposed not to distribute profit of the financial year and to transfer the net profit to
retained eamings ot to other capital reserves, but aiso possibility to increase share capital through equity finanging.

257 information on financial instruments by category
2008 2007
Cash and cash equivalents 103 495 17 337
incl. loans and receivables 103 495 17 337
Receivables 549 875 148 050
incl. loans and receivables 548 875 148 050
Other financial assets 34 105 3733
incl. loans and receivables 34 105 3 733
Total financiat assets 687 475 169 120
Loans and borrowings 1015 559 553 154
incl. carried at amortized costs 1015 559 653 154
Payables 304 988 284 439 For iclentification purposss only
incl. carried at amortized costs 304 888 284 438 T A JCT % f
o] o
Total financial labilities 1 320 547 837 583 m'j fﬁ?ﬁﬁ\fg?& y@@w
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NOTE 26 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

in thousands of kroons

The foltowing parties have been identified fo be related parties in the consclidated financiaf statements:

= sharehelders’ of the Parent that own a significant influence over the Parent (i.e, with an ownershig more than 20%);

= close relatives of these shareholders;
6 key personnel of the management and their close relatives;
= entities controlled by the companies and persons specified above;

Significant influence is assumed when party has more than 20% of the ownership.

26.1 Transactions with companies controlled by key personnel of the management

for the financial years ended June 30, in thousands of kroons

2008 2007
Goods and services purchased
Services purchased 2 364 20 554
Geods purchased 0 129 430
Goods and services sold
Services sold 30 2172
Goods sold o 139 616
Balances
Payables at the beginning of the period 4 562 7028
Payables at the end of the period 355 4 562
Receivables at the beginning of the period (unsecured) 865 1820
Receivables at the end of the petiod {unsecured} 48 665

The key personnel of the management received a remuneraticn totaling 444 thousand EEK (2007: 444 thousand EEK). The key
personnel of the management do not receive pension entitiements from the Group.

26.2 Transactions with companies controlled by common owners

for the financial years ended June 30, in thousands of kroons

2008 2007
Goods and services purchased
Services puschased 28778
Goods purchased 28 098 0
Goods and services soid
Services sold 276
Goods sold 45 090 0
Balances
Payables at the begirning of the period 0 0
Payables at the end of the period 8142 0
Receivables at the beginning of the period {(unsecured} 0 0

Receivables at the end of the period (unsecured)

43 0
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26.3 Transactions with associated companies
for the financiai years ended June 30, in thousands of kroons

2008 2007
Goods and services purchased
Services purchased 2729 G
Balances
Payables at the beginning of the period 0 0
Payables at the end of the period 2 345 O

Sales and purchases of goods are meostly related to Tere AS — raw milk and dairy products have been sold {0 and purchased
from this company. Services have been mostly purchased from Sotidum AS — maintenance servicas for the Group’s machinery
and eguipment. In the last quarter of the financial year the above mentioned services purchased include also services rendered
by AS Uniprint and AS Unipress.

The Group has supported nen-profit organisations related to the Manager in the amount of 1,350 thousand EEK (2007;
1,065 thousand EEK).

During the reporting period, the Group has granted ioans in the amount of 4,100 thousand EEK (2007: 6,008 thousand EEK]) to
related parties and accrued interest income on these loans in the amount of 837 thousand EEK (2007 2,896 thousand EEK),
Baiance of these loang at the balance sheet date is 2,007 thousand EEK (2007: 41,562 thousand EEX), accrued interests for
these loans as of June 30, 2007 in 278 thousand EEK (2007; 3,184 thousand EEK).

During the financial year, AS Kalev has granied loans to GKG tnvesteeringud AS in the amount of 25 166 thousand kroons. The
respeciive foan has been paid back during the financiai year. interest income on this loan amounted to 623 thousand kroons.
AS Katev has also received loans from GKG investeeringud AS in the amount of 2 087 thousand kroons and from AS Rubla in
the amount of 12 000 thousand kroons. The autstanding loans payable amount to 3 200 thousand kroons as of year-end.
Interest on these loans amounted to 275 thousand kroons,

GKG Investeeringute AS has granted 59 825 thousand kroons {0 Kaiev AS as a guarantee for AS Kalev receivabie against Alta.
The respective amount is o be paid back to GKG Investeeringud AS in the amount egual to the amount retrieved from Alia pius
reasonabie amount of interest. Until the receivable has not been paid to AS Kalev, the deposit is not paid back to GKG
investeeringute AS.

For identification purposes only
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NOTE 27 SERVICE CONCESSION ARRANGEMENTS

On 9 November 2006, OU BCA Center and Tallinn City Administration concluded premise lease agreements for five schools
{Karjamaa Gumnaasium, Haabersti Vene Gimnaasium, Sikupilli Glrmnaasium, Némme Gimnaasium ning Tallinna
Uhisguimnaasium) with a maturity period of 30 years. For executing the renovation obligation asising from premises Iease
agreements, Tallinn City has disposed in favour of OU) BCA Center real estate right of superficies with a maturity period of also
30 years. According to premises lease agreements BCA Center is obliged to maintain, administrate and repair schoo! and reat
estate 1o the extent set in the agreements. The rental payments will be paid monthly according to invoices based on the
contractual rates stipulated in lease agreements. Buiiding utilities (heat, electricity, recycling, sanitary engineering) are charged
to the lessee in according to the service volume consumed.

Afier the period of right of superficies, school buildings will be handed over fo the city either for an amount equal to repiacement
cost or an amount that is based on estimated expenditure on renovation and depreciated on a straight-ine basis over the
estimated useful life of 40 years {depending on which of the twe is higher). The period of right of superficies can be prolonged
by the two counterparties.

As of end of the financial year, the receivable against the local administration amounts to 407,329 thousand EEK (see Note 11).
For the purposes of this project, the Group has taken a loan in the amount of 255,151 thousand EEK. OU BCA Center was
disposed of by the date of preparation of these financial statements (Note 28.5).

NOTE 28 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

28.1 Resolutions of the extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders of AS Kalev

On 9 October 2008, an extraordinary generai meeting of the shareholders of AS Kalev was held to discuss and pass resolutions
in the following issues:

1. Granting consent to the management of the company for taking a subordinated loan frem the related party AS Rubla (AS
Kalev's parent comgany) in the amount ¢f up to 625 million EEK.

The meeting granied consent to the canclusion of the loan agreement hetween AS Kalev and AS Rubla, under which AS Rubla
would grant AS Kalev a loan in the amount of up to 625 million EEK. The loan will be due for repayment within 7 years. Under
the conditions stipulated in the draft loan agreement, AS Kalev is not required to pay interest on the loan. AS Kalev's general
managet Cliver Kruuda was appoinied the representative of AS Kalev in the transaction.

2. Approval of the transaction on the acquisition of a stake in Péiva Piim Toctmine O

The mesting resoived to approve the contract of purchase and sale of shares concluded between AS Kalev Paide Tootmine and
OU AH Seenior, OL} Hatike, Faasani Kaubandus OU and OU M.V.Food on 27 August 2008, under which AS Kalev Paide
Tootmine would purchase ail shares of QU Péiva Piim Tootmine under the terms and conditions stipulated in the contract.

3. Approval of the transaction on the acquisition of a stake in Tere AS

The meeting resolved to approve the contract of purchase and sale of shares concluded between AS Kalev and AS Rubla on 29
September 2008, under which AS Kalev Paide Tootmine would purchase frem AS Rubla all shares of AS Tere under the terms
and conditions stipulated in the contract.

28.2 Acquisition of a stake in OU Pdlva Plim Tootmine by AS Kalev Paide Tootmine

On 27 August 2008, AS Kalev's subsidiary AS Kalev Paide Tootmine signed a contract of purchase and sale of shares with OU
AH Seenior, OU Hatike, Faasani Kaubanduse OU and OU MV.Food. The contract was concluded on the purchase of four
shares of OU Pélva Piim Toolmine (hereinafter "PPT") which have a total nominal value of 10,080 thousand EEK (642,951
euros) and make up 100% of the share capital. The purchase price amounts to 312,932 thousand EEK {20,000 thousand
euros), less PPT's interest-bearing liahilities as of the transaction date. The buyer made an advance payment of 8,000 thousand

EEK (511,283 euros) upon conclusion of the contract of sale. The buyer will pay an annual interest of 8% on the difference
_For identification purposes only
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between the final purchase price and the advance payment uniil fuli payment of the purchase price. The full purchase price will
he paid to the sellers on the date of completion of the ownership transfer transaction. The acquired shares have been
encumbered for the benefit of AS SEB Pank in the amount of 187,000 thousand EEK (12,590,585 euros) and serve o
guaraniee PPT's financial liabilities to AS SEB Pank.

On 26 September 2008, the Director General of the Estenian Competition Authority issued a resclution, granting permit for the
merger of AS Kalev Paide Tootmine and OU Péiva Piim Tootmine. The Estonian Competition Authority found that, after the
merger, the parties wouid not be abie to act on the crude milk buying-in, dairy product, butter, butter mix and powder sales
markets independently from other competitors, buyers and suppliers, and that the market would therefore remain competitive
after the merger. The merger will not create a market dominafing status on the crude mitk stocking, dairy product, butter, butter
mix or powder market in the meaning of the Competition Act.

The transaction is not a transaction with a related party in the meaning of the requirements established for issuers by the Tallinn
Stock Exchange.

The main activity of OU Pélva Piim Tootmine is mitk processing and marketing of dairy products. One-third of the company’s
turnover is generated from the domestic market. Export generates two-thirds of the turnover. Total assets of the company as of
31.12.2007 amounted o 216 592 thousand kroons and revenue for the financial year then ended amounted to 486 214
thousand kroons.

On 17 October 2008, AS Kalev Paide Teotming completed the contract of purchase and sale of the 108% stake in OU Pélva
Piim Tootmine. Under the memorandum on the compietion of the transaction, the final purchase price of QU Pdlva Piim
Tootmine amounted to 231,845 840 EEK (14,817,837 euros), of which AS Kalev Paide Tootmine has paid 8,000 thousand EEK
(511,293 euros) in advance, with 8,031,640 EEK {513,315 eurcs} to be paid before the end of 2008. The remainder of the final
purchase price was paid on 17 October 2008 as payment against transfer of shares. For payment of the purchase price, AS
Kaiev Paide Tootmine used the monetary contribution made in the increase of the company's share capital by the parent
company AS Kalev, as well as financial resources gained under the syndicate loan contract conciuded with Nordea Bank
Finland Pic and Bank DnB Nord A/S.

28.3 The share of AS Kalev Paide Tootmine in AS Tere; merger agreement between the companies

On 28 September 2008, AS Kalev Pzide Tootmine signed a contract of purchase and sales of shares with AS Rubia. The
contract was concluded on the purchase of 8,000 thousand shares of Tere AS (hereinafter TERE®), nominal value: 10 EEK
(0.64 euros) per share, at a total nominal value of 80,000 thousand EEK (5,112,932 euras), which makes up 100% of the share
capital. Upon timely fulfilment of the preliminary conditions, including approval of the acquisition of the stake by the general
meeting of the shareholders of AS Kalev, the transaction would be completed on 18 October 2008 at the latest. The total
purchase price of the shares ameounts to 929,376,750 EEK (59,398 thousand euros) and wili be paid to the seller against
transfer of cwnership on the transaction compietion date. The purchase price has been established based on the fair value
analysis of TERE, conducted by AS Deleitte Advisory. With the acquisition of TERE, AS Kalev will complete the strengthening
and restructuring of its dairy area. in the course of the process, AS Kalev's majority shareholder AS Rublz will incorporate all
dairy activities intc a singie company.

Under the rules established for the issuer by the Tallinn Stock Exchange, the above contract of sale must be treated as a related
party transaction. The transaction constitutes an infra-group transaction, under which AS Kalev's majority shargholder AS Rubla
will sell the shares of ifs subsidiary TERE to a subsidiary of AS Kalev (i.e. AS Kalev Paide Tootmine}. The transaction on the
acquisition of the shares of TERE is treated as a related party transaction under the rules of the Tallinn Stock Exchange.

On 17 Gctober 2008, AS Katev Paide Tootmine completed the transaction on the purchase of 100% of the shares of AS Tete.
Under the memorandum on the compietion of the transaction, the final purchase price of the shares of TERE amounts to
929,376,750 EEK (59,398 thousand euros). All preliminary conditions for the transaction ({the permit of the Estonian Competition
Authority and the corresponding approval of the general meeting of the shareholders of AS Kalev) have been fuifiled.

AS Kalev Paide Tootmine paid 786,578,288 EEK (50,271,515 euros) for the shares of TERE. As regards the remainder of the
purchase price, 142,798,462 EEK (9,126,485 euros), the parties will offset mutuat receivables so that AS Rubia will assign to AS
Kalev Paide Tootmine s payabie fto TERE, the company which is to be acquired by AS Kalev Paide Toofmine. The
corresponding part of the purchase price will thus be considered as paid to AS Rubla. For payment of the purchase price, AS
Kalev Paide Tootmine used the monetary contribution made in the increase of the company's share capital by the parent
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company AS Kalev, as well as financial resources gained under the syndicate loan contract conciuded with Nordea Bank
Finland Ple and Bank DnB Nord A/S.

Cn 30 October 2008, AS Kalev Paide Tooimine and its subsidiary TERE concluded a merger agreement on the companies’
merger, with TERE (acquiring company) incorporating AS Kalev Paide Tootmine {company being acquired). The company being
acquired will be considered as dissolved upon compietion of the merger proceedings. By merger, the company being acquired
will assign all of its assels to the acguiring company. The balance sheet date of the merger is 1 December 2008. The shares of
TERE, which will be assigned to AS Kailev by merger, shall grant the right o participate in the profit allocation of the acquiring
company from the moment of entry of the merger information in the commercial register. As the acquiring company, TERE will
grant the company being acquired {i.e. AS Kalev Paide Toctmine) the same rights as those provided to the sharehoider of the
acquiring company by law and the articles of association.

No special benefits wil be granted to the members of the management boards and supervisory boards of the merging
companies in connection with the merger. The Management Board and Supetvisory Board structure of TERE will not be
changed. Ulo Kivine will continue as the Managing Director of TERE, and Oliver Kruuda, Taavi Toots ang Allan Viirma as
members of the Supervisory Board. By merger, the share capital of the company being acguired will be replaced by the share
capital of the acguiring company. AS Kalev wili be provided 8,000 thousand shares of AS Tere against the 42,974,324 shares of
AS Kalev Paide Tootming. After the merger, the share capital of the acquiring company will amount te 80,000 thousand EEK,
with ali 8,000 thousand shares of the acquiring company {nominal value: 10 EEK or 0.64 euros per share), which make up
100% of the shares of the acquiring company, held by AS Kalev,

According to the management of AS Kalev, the above merger should have no effect on the share price of AS Kalev, as the
merger involves the merger of two subsidiaries of AS Kalev, which are involved in a simitar field of activity, with no major
changes introduced in the issuer's economic activities. Total assets of the company as of 31.12.2007 amounted to 307 754
thousand kyoons and revenue for the financial year then ended amounted to 492 624 thousand kroons.

In the meaning of the Tallinn Stock Exchange rules, the parties to the merger agreement constifute related pariies.

28.4 Loan agreement with related party; AS Kalev Paide Tootmine share capital increase

On 9 Octoher 2008, AS Kalev concluded a loan agreement with AS Rubla. Under the agreement, AS Rubia would provide AS
Kalev with a loan in the total amount of 625,000 thousand EEK (38,844,780 euros) within one year after the conclusion of the
agreement. The loan will be disbursed in instaiments under the borrower's corresponding applications. The borrower is obliged
to repay the loan amount within seven years after the conclusion of the loan agreement. AS Kalev is not required {o pay interest,
regardiess of the credit used. The loan is intended for the purpose of financing the investments required for expansion of the
business activities of AS Kalev.

The transactiocn constitutes a related parly fransaction—AS Rubla is a shareholder of AS Kalev. The lpan agreement was
approved by the general meeting of the sharehoiders of AS Kalev on 9 October 2008.

On ¢ October 2008, AS Rubla transferred to AS Kalev the first instalment of 381,165 thousand EEXK (25,000 thousand euros).
The sum was used by AS Kalev as a monelary coniribution to the share capital of AS Kalev's subsidiary AS Kalev Paide
Tootmine.

28.5 Transfer of a share in BCA Center OU

On 15 October 2008, AS Kalev concluded a coniract of sale of the share of ifs subsidiary AS Kalev Real Estaie Company
(hereinafter Kalev REC), transferring its share in OU BCA Center. Kalev REC transferred the share with a nominal vaiug of 60
thousand EEK, making up 100% of the share capital of OU BCA Center. The puspose of the fransfer of the share is to reduce
the interest-bearing liabilities of AS Kalev Group in accordance with the request of the banks which finance the dairy companies
of AS Kalev Group (Note 18.1).

No changes will be introduced in the daily economic activities of OU BCA Center. The contracts concluded with the city will
continue fo be performed by the same team. Ctt Karolin and Peeter Liliestik wiill continue as members of the Management Board
of OU BCA Center after the transfer. Eor identification purposss oify
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Under the contract, Kalev REC shail have the right to repurchase the share within one year after fransfer of ownership. The
object of the repurchase agreement is the share of OU BCA Center, which makes up 100% of the share capital of the private
limited company, and votes represented by shares. With the expiry of the above term, the buyer shail be obliged to co-ordinate
with Kalev REC a corresponding part of the fransfer and encumbrance agreements, the share capital of O} BCA Center,
amendment of the Asticles of Association, removal of and appointment of new members of the management bodies as well as
transfer or encumbrance of the assets of the private limited company.

The buyer obliged to pay 70,600 thousand EEK (4,473,815 eurog) to Kalev REC for the share. This amount has been paid in
full.

The fransaction is not a related party fransaction in the meaning of the Tallinn Stock Exchange rules.

28.6 Option agreement on acquisition of the shares of AS Uniprint

On 19 September 2008, AS Kalev concluded an opticn agreement under which AS Kalev shall have the right to acquire 100%
of the shares of AS Uniprint before 5 March 2009, With the option agreement, the parties restruciured the contract of purchase
and sale of the shares of AS Uniprini, which was concluded on 20 February 2007 and under which AS Kalev would have
acguired the shares of AS Uniprint by 5 April 2009 at the fatest {having previously made the contractual payments by the
established terms). With the entry into force of the ahove option agreement, the contract of purchase and sale of the shares of
AS Uniprint, concluded on 20 February 2007, will be terminated, with the parties conciuding a new AS Uniprint sharehaolders’
agreement.

The price of the shares to be acquired was not changed with the conclusion of the option agreement. AS Kalev shall have the
right, during the option term, to acquire from the sellers all shares held by the sellers at a purchase prige of 54,800 theusand
EEK (3,502,358 euros), of which 4,000 thousand EEK (255,647 euros} had already been paid to the sellers in February 2007,
The contractual option fee amounts to 0.7% of the unpaid purchase price per calendar mornth.

As collateral to the fulfilment of the terms and conditions of the option agreement, AS Kalev will transfer to the sellers' securifies
account the 160 shares of AS Uniprint, which have teen acquired by AS Kalev through previous transactions. Upon acquisition
of the shares which form the object of the option agreement, the aforementioned shares will be returned to AS Kalev's securities
account free of charge.

AS Kalev's represeniatives will retain, during the option term, one seat in the Supervisory Board of AS Uniprint.

28.7 AS Kalev Paide Tootmine share capital increase

On 9 October 2008, AS Kalev (sole shareholder) resolved to increase the share capital of #s subsidiary AS Kalev Paide
Tootmine by 391,165 thousand EEK (25,000 thousand euros). The subsidiary will issue 38,116,500 new shares with a nominal
value of 10 EEK (0.64 euros) each, with all shares acquired by AS Kalev. AS Kalev has made a monetary coniribution in full
paymeni of the shares. The new shares provide the same rights as those provided by other shares, granting the right to receive
dividends in the financial year when the entry on the increase of the share capital is made in the commercial register.

After the above changes, the share capital of AS Kalev Paide Tootmine will amount to 429,743,240 EEK
(27,465,599 euros).

28.8 Change in the Management Board of AS Kalev Paide Toofmine

On 19 September 2008, AS Kalev's subsidiary AS Kalev Paide Tootmine appointed Taavi Toots as member of the Management
Board of the public limited company. Member of the Management Board of AS Kalev Paide Tootmine, Taavi Tootsi, has served
as the financiat director of AS Tere since July 2007, and is a member of the Supervisory Board of AS Tere. Taavi Toots has also
served as member of the supervisory boards of AS Solidum and AS Meier since June 2007,

28.9 Change in the management of OU Pdlva Piim Toctmine

With the resolution of the shareholder of AS Kalev Paide Tootmine's subsidiary OU Pélva Piim Tootmine from 11 November
2008, Uo Kivine was appeinted member of the Management Board of the private limited company, The previous managament
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board members Raul Lusti, Viljar Veevo and Andrus Roiland, who had served as management board members so far, were
removed. Aivar Haelm will continue as management board member togather with Ule Kivine. With the same resolution, the
articles of association of QU Pélva Piim Tootmine were amended, establishing a supervisory board for the private limited
company, with Oliver Kruuda, Taavi Toots and Allan Viirma appointed as supervisory board members.

Management board member Ulo Kivine serves as the managing director of Tere AS since July 2007. OU Pélva Piim Tootmine
supervisory board members Oliver Kruuda, Taavi Toots and Allan Viirma serve as members of the supervisory board of AS Tere
since July 2007. Oliver Kruuda and Taavi Toots alsc serve as members of the Management Board of the private fimited
campany's parent company AS Kalev Paide Tootmine.

Qliver Kruuda helds shares of AS Kalev through various companies.

28.10  Channel Neljas purchased by AS Kalev Meedia

On 17 Qctober 2008, AS Kalev group companies AS Kalev Meedia and OU Eesti Spordikanal {hereinafter Kalev Meedia)
concluded a contract with the ielecommunication company Starman on the purchase of the TV channel MNeljas. Under the
contract, control of the management of the television channe! Neljas, which is currently available only to Starman and ZUUMiv
customers, and is planned to be switched to other TV operator networks after the entry into force of the transaction, will be
transferred to Kalev Meedia. The channel will retain its present frequency on Starman networks and in the ZUUMiv package.

Channei Neljas, which was {aunched in February 2008, is an Estonian language television channel which focuses on quality
entertainment, TV series and movies. Starman is the operator of the biggest cable network in Estonia, and renders television,
Internet and telephone services to over 135,000 digital and analogue television customers. In addition to the cable network,
Siarman also broadcasts via the digital terrestriai television ZUUWtv. AS Starman's shares have been listed on the main fist of
the Taliinn Stock Exchange.

The transaction is not a related party transaction in the meaning of the Tallinn Stock Exchange rules.

28.11 Magazine Bravo acquired by AS Kalev Meedia

(n 7 November 2008, AS Kalev Meedia signed a coniract on the purchase of the Russian-language gossip and entertainment
magazine Bravo. The weekly Bravo was established in 2067 and has a print run of 8,000 copies. The Bravo's target group is the
Russian popuiation in Estonia, between the ages of 18 and 5G.

The transaction is not a related party transaction in the meaning of the Tallinn Siock Exchange rules.

28.12 Bondissue

On 28 August 2008, AS Kalev issued, by placing, bonds with a term of 2 years {redemption date: 28 August 2010}. The issuer
issued bonds in  two  paris: 116,500  thousand EEK  {7,4457G7 euros) worth of bonds on
28 August 2008, and 79,100 thousand £EK (5,100 thousand eusos) worth of bonds on 20 September 2008. The purpose of the
bond issue was redemption of the previously issued bonds of AS Kalev and AS Kalev Real Estate Company.

The bonds have a nominal vaiue of 1 thousand euros and an interest rate of 3-month Euribor + margin {depends on the
collateral). 51% of the shares of AS Kalev's subsidiary AS Kalev Real Estate Company have been established as coliateral to
the obtigations arising from the bonds.

28.13 Alta Foods’ application {o burden shares of Kalev Paide Tootmine AS and Kalev Chocolate
Factory AS

Harju Country Court made a court order on 21.11.2008, with which shares of AS Kalev Paide Tootmine and AS Kalev Chocolate
Factory belonging to AS Kalev were blocked in order {o partially satisfy AS Alta Foods application,

Court order is built on AS Alta Foods application of mere words, thus giving no possibility for AS Kalev io evaluate predicable
slaim or its justification. It appears from the court order that petition against AS Kalev has not been presented to Stockhoim
Chamber of Commerce Arbitrage Court and elsewhere.
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AS Kalev sees considering the amaunt of predicable claim of AS Alta Foods that dispropertionaily large amount of AS Kalev
assets has been burdened with the court order. At the same time the court order is voidabie and AS Kalev intends to use avery
jegal means o protect its inferests. AS Kalev acknowledges that during resclution of prosecution guaranteeing reguiation the
court obtained information communicated by AS Alta Foods only. Thus, the law enables the same couri to look through the
prosecution guaranteeing after requested by application by AS Kalev.

AS Kalev does not agree with the statement announced by AS Alta Foods on 24.11.2008 that accerding to sajes contract
concluded on 20.05.2007 between AS Kalev Chocolate Factory and certain cther AS Kalev subsidiary business associations
the prepayment paid to AS Kalev in the amount of 93,9 million EEK shouid be paid back to AS Alta Foods, AS Kalev sees that
AS Alta Foods did not have a basis to back cut from the confract under discussion and by not fuffilling its contractual duties AS
Aita Foods has caused AS Kaiev considerabie damage.

AS Kalev has also submitied an exirajudicial claim against Alta in the amount of 23.,6 million kroons. A pan of this ciaim in the
amount of 142,274 thousand EEK has been recognised as other income in the reporting period (see Note 8). Additionatly,
interest and fines for delays in the amount of 11,421 thousand kroons related with the abovementioned claim has been
recognised as financial income in the reperting period (see Note 8). Out of this ¢laim, 8 million EUR (93,880 thousand kroons)
has already been received from Aita. The rest of the claim is outstanding among other receivables and has been guaranteed by
a related party. See also Notes 8, 19 and 26,

Eor identification purposes only
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NOTE 29 NON-CONSOLIDATED MAIN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT

The Parent's unconsolfidated primary financial statements are presented because it is required by the Estonian Accounting Law
and is not & reguired part of the consolidated financial statements prepared under Infernational Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the European Union. These unconsolidated primary financial statemenis do not constitute the Parent’s separate
financial statements as defined in IAS 27 (Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements}.

28.1 Balance sheet of the Parent
in thousands of kroons, as of June 3¢

ASSETS

Current assetls

Cash and cash eguivaients
Raceivables

Prepayments

inventories

Total current assets

Non-current assets
Non-current receivables
Investment in subsidiaries
Property, plant and egquipment
Infangible asseis

Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Borrowings

Customer prepayments

Trade accounis payable and other payables
Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity

Share capital

Mandatory legal reserve
Revaluation reserve

Retained earnings

Total equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

76

2008 2007
98 157 1011
92 784 74 893

561 &05
0 2095
191 802 78 604
0 3845
337 315 322 397
34 662 15 472
1 3
371978 341 717
563 480 420 321
169 201 107 368
o 29
184 601 180 662
353 802 288 059
353 802 288 059
236 325 236 325
5543 4020
3689 3689
~35 879 -111 772
209 679 132 262
563 480 420 321
For identit] aily
E ERNGT 8 FOUNG
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28.2 Income staterment of the Parent
for the financial years ended June 30, in thousands of kroons

2008 2007
Revenue 433 144 479
Cost of sales -996 -127 410
Gross margin -563 17 069
Marketing expenses -10 458 -28 521
Administrative expenses -49 452 -37 552
Other operating items 1356 808 -6 524
Operating profit {loss) 75 386 -55 528
Financial income 15 890 1197
Financial expenses ~15 392 -9 366
Net profit (loss} for the financial year 75 893 -63 697
293 The Parent’s statement of changes in equity
in thousands of kroons
Manda-tory Revalua-
Share legal tion Retained
capital reserve reserve carnings  Total equity
As of June 30, 2005 236 325 4 420 3688 -48 075 195 959
Net loss for the financial year o] 0 0 -63 697 -63 667
Total income and expense for 2006/2007 0 0 0 -63 697 -63 687
As of June 30, 2007 236 325 4020 3 689 411 772 132 282
Net profit for the financial year 0 1523 G 75 893 77 416
Totai income and expense for 2007/2008 0 1523 G 75 893 77 416
As of June 30, 2008 236 325 § 543 3689 -35 879 209 678
Adjusted equity of the Parent according to the Estonian Accounting Law (as of June 30, in thousands of kroons}):
2008 2007
Equity in the non-consolidated baiance sheet of the Parent 208 678 132 262
Carrying value of subsidiaries in the non-consolidated balance sheet of the Parent -337 315 -322 397
Value of subsiciaries calculated in accordance with equity method accounting 598 971 563 530
Adjusted equity of the Parent 471 334 373 385

For ﬁt:ﬁenfr'ficaﬁom il

LFposes only
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29.4 Parent's Cash fiow statement
for the financial years ended June 30, in thousands of kroons

2008 2007

Cash flow from operating activities
Net profit {loss) 75 893 -63 897
Adiustments of net profit (loss):

Depreciation and amertisation of property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets 3582 1383

Gain ! loss from disposal of property, plant and equipment -23 -1 304

Financial income -15 890 -1 197

Financial expenses 15382 9366
Changes in assets related to operating activities 29827 68 420
Changes in liabilities retated to operating activities 60 186 -G8 567
Met cash flows from operating activities 177 867 -56 596
Cash flow from investing activifies
Acquisition of subsidiaries -14 418 -42 757
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 2757 19 463
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangibie assets -25 504 -9 020
Loans granted -58 719 -12 838
Repayments of granted {oans 20 641 16 022
interasts received 13 758 119
Net cash flow from investing activities -61 984 -30 011
Cash flow from financing activities
Repayments of borrowings -264 882 -132 533
Proceeds from borrowings 313 442 185 420
Capital lease principle payments 0 -1 643
Changes in overdraft and inventory financing -53 944 71154
interests paid -13 353 -7 277
MNet cash flow from financing activities -18 837 85 121
Total net cash flow 97 146 -1 486
Cash and cash equivalienis at the beginning of the year 1011 2 497
Change in cash and cash equivalenis 97 146 -1 486
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year a8 157 1011

Eor identification ptrposes oy
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of AS Kalev

Report cn the Financial Statements

We have auditad the consolidated financial statements of AS Kalev and ifs subsidiaries (hereafter “the Group™),
which comprise the balance sheet as of 30 June 2008, the statements of income, changes in eguity and cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
These financial statements, which we have identified on the accompanying pages, are enciosed with the
current report.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. This
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and appiying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances,

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial staternents based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit fo obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statemenis are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the ameunts and disclosures in the
financiat statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures thai are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinicn on the effectiveness of the entity's internali
control. An audit also inciudes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting poticies used and the
reascnabieness of accounting estimates made by management, as weil as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

(1) Based on the conditions of the shareholders’ agreement, the Group consclidated the financial statements of
AS Uniprint and AS Unipress for the financial year ended 30 June 2007. Indicating the loss of control (Note
21.6), the Group has net consolidated the revenue and the costs of AS Uniprint and AS Unipress for the period
Aprii - June 2008 and the assets and liabilities of AS Uniprint and AS Unipress as of 30 June 2008. in our
opinian, it is not justified to stop consolidation of AS Uniprint and AS Unipress as of 31 March 2008.
Furthermore, for the period 1 July 2007 - 31 March 2008 AS Uniprint and AS Unipress, whose aggregated
total revenues to externat clients and net profit are EEK 108 452 thousand and EEK 1 480 thousand
respectively, which are included into these consofidaied financial statements, have not been audited. Based on
our audit procedures we were not able to obtain evidence to assess the potential impact on the Group's assets
and liabilities as of 30 June 2008 and revenues and costs of the last three month period of the financial year of
not consolidating the financial statements of AS Uniprint and AS Unipress as of 30 June 2008 and for the full
vear then ended as well as the correciness of total sales and net prefit for the nine months period included in
these consolidated financial statements.

Amerber firm of Ernst & Young Global
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{2) The Group applies the fair value principle for recognition of investmaent property. According to the principle,
all investment properties are valued at their fair value on every balance sheetf date. As of 30 June 2008 there
are investment properties in the balance sheet of EEK 335 990 thousand on what the Group itself has
performed the fair value valuations. Because of the uncertainty refated to the market conditions and lack of
suitable comparable transactions, we were not able to obtain independent assurance about the validity of
management estimations and, consequently, about the fair value of investment property as of 30 June 2008,

(3> The Group has mostiy uninstalied equiprment of EEK 63 569 thousand as tangible fixed assets, which have
indications of potential impairment as on 30 June 2008. The management of the Group has not performed an
impairment test as of 30 June 2008. Based on cur audit procedures, we were unable to obtain sufficient audit
evidence that the value of those fixed assets is not impaired in the Group.

Opinion

in our opinion, excepl Tor the effects of such adjustments, if any, as might have been determined to be
necessary, had we been able to obtain sufficient evidence regarding the matters described in section “Basis for
Qualified Opinion”, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financia! position of the
Group as of 30 June 2008, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union,

Emphasis of Matter

(1)} Without further gualifying our opinion we draw attention to the fact that the intangible assets of the Group
include the value of goodwill in EEK 19 098 thousand. Goodwill requires an impairment test at every balance
sheel date. As of 30 June 2008, the management of the Group has performed the impairment test that
revealed no need for impairment (Note 17). As the value of goodwill is derived primarily from the discounted
terminal vaiue, then its value and the need for impairment, if any, is dependent on the realization of
management’s estimations regarding future cash flows. As of 20 June 2008, the financial statements do not
reflect any amendments related to the uncertainty of realization of those estimations.

(2) Without further guaiifying our opinion we draw attention to section “Basis for Qualified Opinion” as the
circumstances described therg can have potentially negative impact on the financial result and net assets of
the Group, and to the impact of the information presented in Note 28 "Fvents after the balance sheet date”
and aisoc te the fact that the operating cash flows and the working capital of the Group have been negative for
several consecutive periods. The ability of AS Kalev and the Group to continue as a going concern is dependent
on the realization of managemaent plans, disciosed in more details in Noete 25.4. As of 30 June 2008, the
financial statements do not reflect any amendmaents related with the uncerfainty of realization of those plans,

Report on Other L egal and Requlatory Reguirements

Our audit was conducted for the purpcse of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements taken
as a whole. The financial information of AS Kalev as a parent company in Note 29 is presented because it is
required by the Estonian Accounting Law and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements
prepared under Internationat Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. Such financial
information has been subject to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements and, in our opinion, is prepared in all materiat respects in accordance with the reguirements of the
Estonian generally accepted accounting princinies and in relation to the consolidated financial statements
aken as whole.

Thilinn, 3 December 2008

A

Hanno Lindgere
Ernst & Younhg Baltic AS
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT ALEOGCATION

The Manager of AS Kalev proposes to the Shareholders’ General Meeting to transfer the net profit for 2007/2008
in the amount of 97,930 thousand EEK as follows:

e 93,042 thousand EEK to retained earmings
e raise the mandatory legal reserve by 4,897 thousand EEK.

Tallinn, 3. December 2008

Oliver Kruuda
Manager
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SIGNATURES OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD AND SUPERVISORY
BOARD TO THE ANNUAL REPGRT 2007/2008

Hereby, the members of the Management Board and Supervisory Board of AS Kalev sign the Annual Report
2007/2008, which consists of Management Report, Financial Statements, Profit Allocation Report and Auditors’
Report, confirming the correciness of information presented in it:

Manager: Ofiver Kruuda

Supervisory Board: (3lo Suurkask

Hejno Priimégi
/

/
/

/ Marko Kaha

/

i
}

Tallinn, \3 December 2008
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